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1. Minister’s foreword
This Annual Report confirms that the National Credit Regulator (NCR), established in terms of
Section 12(1) of the National Credit Act (NCA), No.34 of 2005, has made significant progress
in terms of improving the regulation of the credit market in South Africa, improving consumer
protection and improving the efficiency and fairness of the consumer credit market.
The Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) is very cognisant of the important role that the
NCR continues to play in increasing the knowledge in consumer credit industry in South Africa
through its published research and statistics.This information is used very widely by the relevant
government departments, other regulators such as the South African Reserve Bank (SARB),
and financial regulators within the Southern African Development Community (SADC) region.
It is very important that the NCR is seen to visibly enforce the Act, especially where credit
providers continue to abuse the most vulnerable groups. Amongst others, four high profile
cases during the period have sent a very clear message of visible enforcement against high
profile abusive practices. In addition, the NCR has also proved very successful at changing the
behaviour among registrants through its enforcement action both in the National Consumer
Tribunal and the Courts.
As part of the DTI entities it is imperative that the NCR is closely aligned to other government
departments, government policies and initiatives and other regulators to ensure synergy and to
leverage performance. The NCR has acquitted itself very well in this regard.
The Cabinet called on both the private and public sectors to contribute to the creation of five million new job opportunities over the next ten
years. Since the NCA has created new areas of business in debt counselling and payment distribution, which did not previously exist, the NCR
has already contributed to job creation. Further expansion of the credit market is expected to result in further employment opportunities.
Commendable too, is the fact that the NCR has collaborated with the Banking Sector Education and Training Authority (BANKSETA) to develop
a Learnership Programme to recruit, train, mentor and equip graduates for employment. While some of the graduates will be assimilated into
the NCR, others will be absorbed by other employers. The project will be ongoing.
The NCR faces specific challenges, including the lack of capacity of magistrates to interpret and apply the NCA and to deal with debt counselling
applications; effective and efficient mechanisms to deal with debt counselling processes, in the absence of legislative amendments; and an increase
in applications to debt counsellors placing both the debt counsellors and credit providers under considerable pressure.
I would like to congratulate the NCR’s Board, management and staff on another very successful year.
We look forward to your ongoing success.

Minister of Trade and Industry, Dr R Davies, MP
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2. Chairperson’s Statement
Developments in South Africa and internationally, have confirmed the
significance of the National Credit Act (NCA).
The NCA locally has cushioned the impact of the global economic meltdown. For those South
Africans who lost their jobs during this period and found themselves over-indebted as a result
of the reduction in their monthly income, the NCA has provided relief through debt counselling.
The NCA has also arguably mitigated the possible impact by promoting responsible credit
granting. Many over-indebted consumers would arguably have been a lot worse off, and may
have had much higher levels of debt to contend with, had it not been for the mechanisms
implemented through the NCA.
Trends indicate that consumer payments to Payment Distribution Agencies (PDAs) are now
more regular. This seems to indicate that consumers are more aware of their rights under the
NCA and that deserving consumers are applying for debt counselling.
Stakeholders in the industry have impressed through their resolve to work together to try to
find solutions to address challenges. Collaboration on this scale between the various players
in the industry is unprecedented. Commendable too is the fact that some credit providers are
more sensitive to their clients’ needs and are more accommodating of voluntary arrangements
that fall outside the NCA.
Since the NCA is a fairly new legislation, there will inevitably be loopholes that need to be
closed and amendments that need to be made. The National Credit Regulator (NCR) supports the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI)
in undertaking this process.
The NCR continues to make important inroads and its achievements over the past financial year are noteworthy. An unqualified audit report,
together with feedback from our auditors and our Audit and Risk Management Committee, attest to the fact that the NCR is a very well run
organisation.
I have really enjoyed serving as chairperson of the NCR Board. It has been a great honour and a privilege to serve with an organisation that
is recognised globally for its pioneering and important work. The NCR’s Board’s term of office is drawing to a close. I would like to thank the
Board for its support and hard work over the past five years. I would also like to take this opportunity to extend a warm welcome to the new
chairperson and Board and wish them every success.
I am very conscious of the fact that none of the NCR’s achievements over the past financial year would have been possible without the
dedication, commitment and professionalism of the Board, CEO, management team and staff. I would be remiss if I did not express my special
thanks to our Acting CEO, Nomsa Motshegare, who has really gone the extra-mile and has done a sterling job.

Adv P Tlakula
Chairperson of the Board
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3. CEO’s overview
Introduction
The National Credit Regulator (NCR) was established on 1 June 2006 and the National Credit
Act (NCA) came into effect on 1 June 2007. It has been very pleasing to note the level of
international recognition of the significance of the NCA as a benchmark for consumer credit
legislation.
Progress
Good progress has been made on a number of fronts. The NCR’s achievements over the past
financial year, in terms of the primary areas of its mandate, are summarised in the paragraphs
below. The developments and challenges in respect of debt counselling are dealt with in a
separate Section in the report.
Credit providers: registration and compliance monitoring
Applications for credit providers have stabilised. A total of 4 473 credit providers are registered
with the NCR, representing 34 896 branches and a total loan book of R1.188 trillion.
Credit bureaux: registration and compliance monitoring
There are eleven credit bureaux registered with the NCR. The registration process includes a
pre-registration audit on each applicant, to determine whether the applicant has appropriate
technical capacity, procedures and expertise to operate a credit bureau and the capabilitiy to
meet the requirements of the Act.
Consumer awareness and education
The NCR has an extensive consumer awareness programme, including regular capacity-building workshops, radio talk shows, as well as awareness
programmes in newspapers and magazines.
Workshops play an important role in increasing the capacity of the range of individuals who interact with consumers on a daily basis. While
445 stakeholder workshops were conducted during the period, 1 883 workshops have been conducted since the NCR’s inception. The NCR
continues to enjoy good exposure in the media. Impressive media exposure with an Advertising Value Equivalent to R 121 million was enjoyed
in the reporting period. An external consulting firm conducts an annual assessment of the outreach and impact of the NCR’s awareness
programmes. The latest assessment indicates consumer awareness level of 73% during the period.
Complaints
Since inception, the NCR has received 388 999 calls at its call centre. For the year under review, 80 734 calls were received. Regular engagements
with the office of the Credit Ombud and the Ombudsman for Banking Services are held to facilitate the referral and resolution of complaints.
The NCR is a member of the Provincial Consumer Protection Forum, consisting of provincial consumer protection offices, the Department of
Trade and Industry (DTI) and relevant regulators. The Forum facilitates effective co-operation between the NCR and consumer support staff
at provincial government level.
Investigations and enforcement action
For a number of years, the NCR has achieved successful enforcement action in cases ranging from fraudulent mortgage schemes, micro-lending
practices, debt counselling contraventions and credit bureau non-compliance. While a total of 68 investigations were mandated during the year,
476 investigations have been mandated since the NCR’s establishment. The NCR has also engaged 77 types of enforcement actions, many
resulting in redress for consumers.
Investigations covered areas such as:
• Lending schemes that target properties of over-indebted consumers;
• Irregularities in payment distribution by debt counsellors and their agents;
• Irregular debt review terminations by credit providers
During the year under review, 12 Compliance Notices were issued and a further 16 instructional letters were issued by the NCR for lesser areas
of non-compliance. There were 24 formal undertakings received from non-compliant entities. The NCR was engaged in 10 National Consumer
Tribunal (NCT) referrals and 12 cases in the High Court. In 3 cases the NCR have referred matters for criminal investigation and possible
prosecution.
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Credit bureau and credit provider statistics
The NCR disseminates information to the financial service sector and key stakeholders on consumer credit in South Africa. This includes the levels of
borrowing, credit products utilised and the levels of indebtedness amongst consumers through the publication of quarterly credit provider and credit
bureau statistics.
The percentage of consumers with impaired records has increased as a result of the economic downturn. In June 2007, prior to the economic
downturn, some 36.4% of consumers had impaired records. This increased to 46,5% in December 2010. Details appear in Figure 1.
Figure 1: Consumers with impaired records
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The percentage of consumers in good standing decreased from 53.7% for the quarter ended September 2010 to 53.5% for the quarter ended
December 2010. On the other hand, accounts in good standing increased from 74.3% to 74.5% over the same period (the total number of consumer
accounts were recorded at 64.28 million for the quarter ended December 2010).
The number of free credit reports issued to consumers has remained stable across all quarters. It is interesting to note that of the 18,5 million credit
active consumers, only 79 635 have requested their credit reports.
The value of new credit granted for the quarter ended December 2010, was R 83.53 billion, an increase of 31.97% compared to the previous year.
There has been a marked increase in unsecured lending for the quarter ended December 2010.
Research
An assessment of the current state of the debt counselling process was a research priority during the period. Research was undertaken by the
University of Pretoria’s Law Clinic, to identify changes and trends that have emerged since the 2009 University of Pretoria’s Debt Counselling
Assessment Report.
Research findings include the need to amend and supplement the Act and Regulations to regulate the efficiency of the debt counselling process. It was
found that some debt counsellors and employees of credit providers lack the skills and knowledge to perform efficiently and effectively. This results in
ill-informed proposals and actions. Improvements were noted in areas such as turnaround times from the date a Certificate of Balance is is requested
to the date a response is received, particularly from banks.
Currently research is being conducted on the cost of and access to credit and the alternate dispute resolution mechanisms available within the
consumer credit market. Research in these areas will be completed in the next financial year.
Business process re-engineering
The year under review has seen significant developments in laying the foundation for the ICT systems renewal programme. The Business Process Reengineering (BPR) project, to maximise efficiencies in our work methods, and redesign polices and procedures to synchronise with the newly created
processes was completed. The outcomes of the BPR formed the basis for the NCR’s ICT tender for the new NCR operational and data management
systems.
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3. CEO’s overview
Human Capital
The NCR appointed 33 new staff members during the year under review, bringing the total staff complement to 112. Staff turnover is at an
acceptable level and staff morale appears high. Over the past few years, a pattern of hosting regular social events has been established, which
includes participation in Radio 702’s ‘Walk-the-Talk,’ a sports day, a cultural day and other regular departmental events.
Finance and audit
The NCR receives its funding from registration fees and parliamentary appropriation. Registration fees of R25, 284,793 represents 31.4% of total
income. The NCR has total net assets of R51,840,273 and incurred expenditure of R78,507,667 for the year. Personnel costs are the largest
expenditure item, representing 46.9% of total expenditure.
Indicative of the quality of its financial management and internal controls is the fact that, the NCR has consistently received an unqualified audit
report since inception.
Debt Counselling
The NCR has made substantial progress in facilitating the establishment of a functional debt counselling mechanism, since the introduction of the
Act, despite facing enormous challenges in this area. From only seven registered debt counsellors at the time when the NCA became effective,
there are now more than 1 900 registered debt counsellors. Seven training institutions have been accredited from which debt counsellors have
to obtain a certificate prior to registration.
A full set of training guidelines has been implemented and debt counsellors are provided with procedural guidelines and documentation. An
extensive programme of post-registration support has also been implemented, which includes regular workshops, on-site visits and telephonic
support. Five Payment Distribution Agencies (PDAs) have been accredited and are subject to intense monitoring and regular external audits to
ensure that this intervention is working.
If debt counsellors were allowed to carry out payment distribution, the risks of maladministration and theft of consumer money would be very
difficult to overcome. Recognising that vast amounts of money need to be collected from consumers and paid to credit providers, the NCR
developed a system to control the receipt and distribution of consumers’ payments to credit providers. A recent High Court Ruling confirmed
the NCR has the power to appoint Payment Distribution Agencies (PDAs) as part of the debt review process, which has strengthened the
NCR’s ability to ensure that consumers’ and credit providers’ interests are protected in the debt counselling process. During the course of the
year the NCR investigated such cases of maladministration. Swift intervention has prevented a catastrophe.
The number of debt counselling applications has reduced and stabilised in the second half of the year. Approximately 6 000 new applications on
average, are received on a monthly basis. Consumer payments to PDAs are more regular, with around 65% to 75% payment-rate being achieved.
There have been instances where credit providers have terminated their clients’ agreements when they were under debt review. The NCR
believes this was not appropriate. In an attempt to regularise the position of part-paying consumers under debt review, the NCR embarked
on discussions with the banking industry to find a solution to these cases, with a specific emphasis on mortgages. The four major banks agreed
to terms of a conditional moratorium, effective 6 December 2010. The NCR distributed letters to debt counsellors on 10 December 2010
explaining the circumstances under which consumers are eligible for the moratorium.
Unfortunately, debt counselling does not provide a solution for consumers who have lost their jobs. Here, the NCR encourages credit providers
and consumers to negotiate the best possible solution for such consumers.
Amendments to the debt counselling provisions of the NCA
Uncertainty in the interpretation of the relevant Sections of the NCA and on the procedures for bringing applications to the Magistrates Courts
are major complicating factors in the resolution of debt counselling cases.
Since a Declaratory Order by the North Gauteng High Court, on 21 August 2009 the NCR has been monitoring cases to ascertain how
various courts are responding to applications brought before them. Whilst there are still challenges, there is evidence that cases are starting to
progress through the system and adjudicated in the courts. The NCR has intervened, where appropriate, as a friend of the Court to assist in
the interpretation of the NCA.
To date 25 223 matters have been resolved by the courts and a further 31 035 have been placed on the court rolls. The NCR has intervened
as a friend of the Court in a matter between a consumer and First National Bank regarding the interpretation of Section 86 (10) of the NCA.
The matter is scheduled to be heard during May 2011. The NCR has also made submissions to the DTI to amend the NCA and the DTI has
provided assurance that the proposals will be considered.
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Engagement with the Judicial Officcers Association of South Africa (JOASA)
The NCR has also participated in a National Conference for Magistrates in collaboration with the Justice College, attended by magistrates and
judges. The conference sought to foster a consistent approach in dealing with debt counselling cases.
Task Team on debt counselling
The NCR has received the recommendations from the Task Team on Debt Counselling. Flowing from these proposals, a Debt Review Advisory
Committee (DRAC), representing credit providers, debt counsellors and payment distribution agencies has been established. Its mandate is to
develop, implement and monitor the working arrangements for the debt review process, on an ongoing basis, subject to NCR oversight.
Chaired by Professor David Lewis, the DRAC seeks to ensure ongoing collaboration between all parties.
The DRAC will act as a mechanism through which any matters that hamper the effective implementation of debt counselling can be identified,
debated and solutions proposed to NCR stakeholders.
The DRAC met for the first time on 6 December 2010.This meeting was preceded by the signing of Codes of Conduct by industry associations.
Two subsequent meetings were held in February and March 2011. The NCR is in the process of implementing the Codes of Conduct as part of
the conditions of registration for credit providers and debt counsellors.
The Task Team has made a number of recommendations that require process and systems changes on the part of debt counsellors, their
software vendors, credit providers and PDAs. It is understood that various parties have made progress in changing systems (such as new
Certificate of Balance (COB) formats by credit providers and proposal packs by debt counsellors). However, key systems changes and the status
of implementation is yet to be determined. The NCR is involved in a project with debt counselling software vendors to track progress with the
implementation of Task Team recommendations, which is being closely monitored by DRAC.
Conclusion
Consumer credit is in its infancy in Africa. However, from engagements with our counterparts regionally and internationally, the NCR believe
South Africa is ahead of the rest of the continent and other regions of the world in terms of dealing with consumer credit matters. Our ongoing
challenge and responsibility is to ensure that debt counselling works efficiently.
A number of countries have expressed interest in the activities of the NCR, including Namibia, Botswana and Uganda. During the period
under review the NCR was represented at the Association of Financial Inclusion (AFI), a conference in Indonesia; and an AFI and Bank Negara
conference in Malaysia, where on both occasions; the NCR made presentations. As a result of the Malaysian Conference, an AFI Consumer
Empowerment and Market Conduct Working Group has been established. It was very clear from these conferences that the NCR is doing a lot
more than many other regulators worldwide.
The NCR will be participating in the Consumer International World Conference in Hong Kong in May 2012, where the NCR has been asked
to share its experiences. The NCR is probably the only regulator, and to the best of our knowledge, the only entity in Africa participating in the
conference.
Financial literacy remains a challenge for many South Africans, and for the country as a whole. Many argue that there is a compelling argument
for South Africa to implement an integrated policy around financial education.
From the NCR’s perspective, there are a number of immediate challenges. These include ensuring the successful implementation of the Task
Team’s recommendations, and ensuring the seamless implementation of new IT systems and processes emanating from the Business Process
Re-engineering (BPR) exercise.
Founding NCR CEO, Gabriel Davel’s contract expired as CEO with effect on 1 January 2011. Mr Davel had been with the NCR since inception
and was a key contributor to the development of the National Credit Act (NCA). He also played a pivotal role in the implementation of the
NCR and in steering the NCR during its critical establishment phase. The NCR is indebted to Mr Davel for efficiently implementing a ground
breaking legislation, and leaving behind a well run organisation.
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3. CEO’s overview
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the Board for their support and guidance, and NCR management and staff for their commitment
and dedication. I would like to extend my gratitude to all stakeholders for the positive engagement with the NCR. With this level of commitment
we will continue to ensure that the NCR plays its role as an efficient and effective public institution.

Nomsa Motshegare
Acting Chief Executive Officer
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Section four
The Board of the National Credit Regulator

4. The Board of National Credit Regulator

Standing: Mr Tim Store, Mr Manie van Schalkwyk, Mr Mandla Maleka
Seated: Ms Sindisiwe Ngxongo, Adv Pansy Tlakula, Ms Zodwa Ntuli
The National Credit Regulator is governed by a Board consisting of:
Chair
Adv Pansy Tlakula
Deputy Chair
(Vacant)
Designated Members
Ms Zodwa Ntuli (Department of Trade and Industry)
Mr Nkosana Mashiya (National Treasury)
Ms Sindisiwe Ngxongo (Human Settlements)
Mr Coceko Pakade (Department of Social Development)
Other members
Ms Christine Glover
Mr Mandla Maleka
Mr Manie van Schalkwyk
Mr Tim Store
The Board members are appointed in terms of Section 19 of the National Credit Act (NCA), which also stipulates that the Cabinet members
responsible for Finance, Housing and Social Development must each designate a member to the Board.
The Minister of Trade and Industry, currently Dr Rob Davies, appoints the Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson as well as a maximum of
six additional members, two of whom must be knowledgeable on consumer matters. Each serves for a period of not more than five years, as
determined by the Minister at the time of appointment. Members are required to have applicable knowledge or experience pertaining to the
NCA.
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The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is appointed by the Minister of Trade and Industry in terms of Section 23 of the NCA. An ex officio member
of the Board, the CEO may not vote at meetings.
The CEO, who receives internal advice, and is subject to oversight from the Board, is responsible for the functioning of the National Credit
Regulator and is accountable to the Board.
The functions of the Board are defined as follows:
• To guide strategic development of the NCR;
• To oversee and ensure efficient and effective use of resources of the NCR;
• To ensure that the NCR complies with all its legal requirements, and reporting and financial accountability obligations;
• To provide advice to the CEO concerning the exercise of the functions and powers of the National Credit Regulator.
The Board may refer any matter concerning the NCR’s functions to the Minister of Trade and Industry
The Board has established a Remuneration Committee, the Audit and Risk Management Committee, and a Policy and Strategy Committee,
which are chaired by Adv P Tlakula, T Ramano and T Store respectively. It should be noted that T Ramano is an independent person appointed
by the Board to chair the Audit and Risk Management Committee.
The Board held four meetings during the period, while the Policy and Strategy Committee has met on four occasions, and the Remuneration
Committee, twice. The Audit and Risk Management Committee met five times. Details of Board attendance are provided in Table 1.
Table 1: Board attendance
Names

25 June 2010

12 August 2010

04 November 2010

Adv Pansy Tlakula

P

P

P

Tim Store

P

P

P

Manie van Schalkwyk

P

P

P

Mandla Maleka

P

P

P

Apology

P

P

Coceko Pakade

P

Apology

Apology

Zodwa Ntuli

P

P

Apology

Christine Glover

P

Resigned (1)

Nkosana Mashiya

Apology

Apology

Sindisiwe Ngxongo

Apology

Note 1: Ms Christine Glover resigned as a Board member in July 2010.
The NCR Executive Committee consists of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Senior Manager:
Education and Strategy. Details of the reporting structure are provided in Chart 1.
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4. The Management Committee
Chart 1: The NCR’s Management Organisational chart.

Board of
Directors

Chief Executive
Officer
(Vacant)

Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Sivanesan Pather

Manager:
Investigations and
Enforcement
Adv Jan Augustyn

Manager:
Research and Statistics
Mr. Rajeen Devpruth

Manager:
Registrations
Mr. Abel Tshimole

Chief Operating Officer
(Acting CEO)
Mrs. Nomsa Motshegare

Manager:
Human Capital
Mr. Mpfariseni Mudau

Senior Manager:
Education and Strategy
Mr. Peter Setou

Manager:
Complaints
Adv Obed Tongwane

Standing: Ismail Karwa, Obed Tongwane, Sivo Pather, Jan Augustyn
Seated: Rajeen Devpruth, Darrell Beghin, Nomsa Motshegare, Mpfariseni Mudau
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Manager:
Credit Information &
Research
Ms Darrell Beghin

Section FIVE
Highlights

5. Highlights
HIGHLIGHTS
The 2010/11 financial year has proved very successful with a number of highlights during this period.
Impact of the NCR relating to the financial crisis
Although the number of consumers with impaired credit records increased during the period, by curtailing reckless lending practices the NCA
has played an important role in preventing a debt spiral in South Africa. It has also prevented those who are already debt-stressed from incurring
additional debt.
A number of workshops were held with the four larger credit bureaux relating to changes in the quarterly reporting content to promote
effective and more reliable reporting from the bureaux. This process is nearing the final stages. The process with the smaller, niche, bureaux is
underway to discuss ways of improving these bureaux responses to the Regulator’s information reporting requirements.
Credible statistics
The NCR remains one of the leading regulators to produce credible statistics which are used by the industry role players for their processes.
NCR statistics have improved the analysis of consumer credit and trends in indebtedness in South Africa significantly.
Consumer awareness
Huge strides have been made to raise consumer awareness. Media coverage is a good barometer for gauging consumer awareness. Particularly
gratifying is the fact that the Advertising Value Equivalent (AVE) of media coverage in the 2010/2011 financial year increased 23% year-on-year.
The NCR also participated in the South African National Taxi Council’s (SANTACO) National Conference in Sun City. In addition, the NCR
conducted educational workshops, empowering taxi owners with knowledge and understanding of their contractual obligations. Workshops
were conducted in Gauteng, Mpumalanga, Northern Cape, North West, Eastern Cape and KwaZulu-Natal. Ten workshops in total were held.
More than 500 consumers attended workshops and the SANTACO Conference.
Impact Assessment
Since 2008, the NCR has commissioned an Impact Assessment Study on an annual basis to evaluate the effectiveness of awareness campaigns
and performance in terms of the implementation of the NCA.
Major findings:
• Consumer awareness of the NCR has increased from 54% in 2008 to 73% in 2010;
• Awareness levels among low-income groups remains relatively low;
• Indicative of this, this group perceives the NCA as “National Credit Advisor”;
• There is a limited understanding of credit terminology;
• There is a limited awareness of consumer protection avenues, including debt counselling;
• There is a limited use of financial and credit information;
• NCR staff are perceived as being helpful and responsive.
Recommendations include:
• Process enhancements: greater transparency, standardisation, guidelines and consensual debt resolution through the National Debt Mediation
Association;
• Refining awareness messages with specific attention to: debt counselling, credit terminology and the avenues that are open to consumers
who are not satisfied with their credit agreements;
• Separate courts for debt counselling.
Debt Review Task Team
During the previous financial year, the NCR concluded the Task Team’s recommendations of addressing blockages and reducing backlogs in the
debt review process. Implementation of the Task Team’s recommendations is expected to go a long way towards ensuring that some of the
structural problems are addressed through non-statutory, voluntary processes.
Under the watchful eye of the Debt Review Advisory Committee (DRAC), the industry has already started implementing many of the Task
Team’s recommendations. Chaired by Prof David Lewis, previously Chairman of the Competition Tribunal, the Committee is comprised of highlevel industry representatives.
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The Task Team’s recommendations are being implemented through the establishment of the Debt Counselling Rules System (DCRS), which was
developed by the Banking Association of South Africa.The DRAC however, is in the process of being transformed into a not-for-profit legal entity
with an independent governance board, consisting of credit providers, debt counsellors and software vendors. The NCR believe that the DCRS,
once fully implemented, will go a long way towards ensuring that cases are resolved on a consensual basis.
The standardising of debt counselling system outputs is a key development, which emanates from the Task Team’s recommendations. In addition,
the office of the Credit Ombud’s mandate has been expanded to include disputes that arise from debt review.The Credit Ombud will, therefore,
have the jurisdiction to mediate in debt counselling matters. This will assist the NCR to deal with disputes.
The NCR is in the process of implementing Codes of Conduct as part of the conditions of registration for credit providers and debt counsellors.
The intention is to make subscription to the Codes mandatory through the Conditions of Registration for all registrants. This will be achieved
by amendments to existing registrants’ conditions of registration and will be included for all new registrants. The NCR’s Registrations and
Compliance Department will issue letters to debt counsellors and credit providers in the next financial year requesting their subscription to
the codes and requiring their consent to changes to their conditions of registration. For credit providers, this will be a relatively straightforward
process, as they are required to subscribe to a Code under Section 48 of the NCA.
A DRAC Technical subcommittee has also been established. An overriding objective of the committee is to investigate and monitor the
effectiveness of technology and software within the debt counselling environment, and to identify interventions that will ensure the efficient
operation of these integrated systems. The Technical subcommittee has already made significant progress in concluding accreditation standards
for vendors of the debt counselling system.
The success of the interventions proposed by the Task Team requires ongoing collaboration by all stakeholders involved in the process. the
DRAC is the medium through which such collaboration is fostered and harnessed, to ensure the systemic implementation of the Task Team’s
proposals.
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5. Highlights
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Section SIX
Operational Overview

6. Operational Overview
Overview of the National Credit Act and National Credit Regulator
The NCA makes provision for the control and regulation of all credit agreements, including mortgages, vehicle finance, credit cards, overdrafts,
micro-loans and pawn-broking transactions, as well as the regulation of all institutions that provide consumer credit. Its purpose is to promote
a responsible and accessible credit market and to protect consumers from abusive and unfair practices. In doing so, it also aims to remove the
limitations on access to mortgage finance by the lower- and middle-income groups, thereby enabling home ownership across all of society. It
additionally creates more favourable conditions for developmental credit and for lending to small businesses than previous legislation permitted.
The Act requires the NCR, as the credit regulator, to promote the development of an accessible credit market; particularly to address the needs
of historically disadvantaged persons, low-income persons, and remote, isolated or low-density communities. The NCR is also tasked with the
registration of credit market participants, namely: credit providers, credit bureaux and debt counsellors, and with the enforcement of compliance
with the Act.
Credit Information and Research
The NCR conducts research and compiles statistics to enable it to inter alia, identify gaps in legislation and devise future strategies.These activities
have significantly improved the analysis of the nature of consumer credit in South Africa and trends in indebtedness. The research also facilitates
a better understanding of the ability of various income groups to access credit.
Credit Bureau Monitor
The Credit Bureau Monitor provides valuable insights into the credit
standing of South African consumers and trends in the credit
landscape based on information submitted by credit bureaux. Four
issues of the Credit Bureau Monitor were published for the year.
These were published on the NCR website and distributed to
industry players and key stakeholders.
Credit bureaux provide the NCR with information pertaining to
the credit habits of consumers in South Africa. By transposing this
information against population estimates, the NCR has created a
South African Credit Universe. The NCR now has a snapshot of
the number of consumers recorded on the bureau system and the
number of consumers who are credit active, contextualised within
the national population. For 2010, Statistics South Africa (Stats SA)
estimates the mid-year population as 49.99 million.
The analysis revealed that at December 2010, 79,3% of the adult
population had a credit record at the credit bureaux, and out of
this population of 39,64 million consumers, some 46,7% were
credit active. More information is provided in Table 2.
Table 2: SA Credit Universe
Mar 2010

Jun 2010

Sept 2010

Dec 2010

National population estimates (Source:
Statistics South Africa)

49.99m

49.99m

49.99m

49.99m

Number of persons recorded on the bureau
system

38.59m

38.80m

39.48m

39.64m

Number of persons who are credit-active

18.21m

18.32m

18.35m

18.51m

The statistics indicate an increasing level of debt-stress among consumers, although at a slower rate. Quarterly statistics for the period March
2008 to December 2010 confirm that the number of consumers in good standing in December 2010 declined slightly (0,2%) when compared
to September 2010. This was after a moderate increase (0,6%) seen in September 2010, when compared to June 2010. It is important to note
that over the quarters, the level of good standing has been declining at a slower rate. Hopefully, the impact of the economic slump is beginning
to wane.
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As at December 2010, 46,5% of credit-active consumers had impaired records.There was an increase of 1,2% in the number of consumers falling
into this category, compared to the end of December 2009. Details appear in Table 3.
Table 3: Credit standing of consumers

Good Standing ( )
Good Standing (%)
Current (%)
1-2 months in arrears (%)
Impaired records ( )
Impaired records
3+ months in arrears
Adverse listings
Judgement and
administration orders
Credit active consumers
( )

Mar’08
10.55m
61.6%
45.1%
16.5%
6.59m
38.4%
14.3%
12.8%

Jun’08
10.38m
60.4%
44.9%
15.5%
6.79m
39.6%
15.3%
13.1%

Sep’08
10.43m
59.5%
44.9%
14.6%
7.10m
40.5%
15.7%
12.2%

Dec’08
10.26m
58.4%
43.6%
14.8%
7.30m
41.6%
15.1%
13.8%

Mar’09
10.15m
57.6%
42.3%
15.3%
7.46m
42.4%
15.3%
14.2%

Jun’09
9.94m
55.9%
41.7%
14.2%
7.85m
44.1%
16.8%
14.2%

Sep’09
9.92m
55.1%
41.2%
13.9%
8.09m
44.9%
17.0%
14.7%

Dec’09
9.89m
54.7%
40.5%
14.2%
8.18m
45.3%
17.3%
14.6%

Mar’10
9.84m
54.0%
39.5%
14.5%
8.37m
46.0%
17.2%
15.0%

Jun’10
9.73m
53.1%
39.2%
13.9%
8.59m
46.9%
17.3%
15.6%

Sep’10
9.86m
53.7%
39.9%
13.8%
8.49m
46.3%
17.0%
15.4%

Dec’10
9.90m
53.5%
39.2%
14.3%
8.61m
46.5%
17.8%
14.6%

11.3%

11.2%

12.6%

12.7%

12.9%

13.1%

13.3%

13.3%

13.7%

13.9%

13.9%

14.1%

17.14m

17.17m

17.53m

17.56m

17.61m

17.79m

18.01m

18.07m

18.21m

18.32m

18.35m

18.51m

Credit standing of accounts
Open accounts in good standing have increased in the past two quarters. The number of accounts that fall under this category in December
2010 increased by 354 000, when compared to December 2009. Details appear in Table 4.
Table 4: Credit standing of accounts

Good Standing ( )

Mar’08

Jun’08

Sep’08

Dec’08

Mar’09

Jun’09

Sep’09

Dec’09

Mar’10

Jun’10

Sep’10

Dec’10

45.32m

46.81m

47.39m

47.22m

46.16m

46.87m

47.33m

47.56m

47.99m

48.22m

47.85m

47.91m

Good Standing (%)

78.0%

77.8%

77.9%

77.5%

76.3%

75.3%

74.5%

74.4%

74.1%

73.9%

74.3%

74.5%

Current (%)

67.3%

68.1%

68.7%

68.3%

66.2%

66.2%

65.6%

65.6%

65.1%

65.4%

65.9%

65.9%
8.6%

1-2 months in arrears (%)

10.7%

9.7%

9.2%

9.2%

10.1%

9.1%

8.9%

8.8%

9.0%

8.5%

8.4%

Impaired records ( )

12.80m

13.32m

13.43m

13.73m

14.36m

15.41m

16.21m

16.38m

16.76m

17.06m

16.55m

16.36m

Impaired records

22.0%

22.2%

22.1%

22.5%

23.7%

24.7%

25.5%

25.6%

25.9%

26.1%

25.7%

25.5%

3+ months in arrears

10.4%

11.4%

12.5%

12.4%

13.3%

14.6%

15.1%

15.9%

15.7%

16.2%

16.3%

16.5%

Adverse listings

6.6%

5.9%

4.9%

5.7%

6.0%

5.9%

6.1%

5.7%

6.1%

5.9%

5.4%

5.0%

Judgement and
administration orders

5.0%

4.9%

4.7%

4.4%

4.4%

4.3%

4.2%

4.0%

4.1%

4.1%

4.0%

3.9%

Consumer accounts ( )

58.12m

60.14m

60.82m

60.95m

60.52m

62.29m

63.54m

63.94m

64.75m

65.28m

64.40m

64.28m

The volume of credit enquiries reached 176.65 million in the quarter ended December 2010, a decrease of 6,9% when compared to September
2010, and an increase of 20,3% when compared to December 2009. Banks continue to account for the lion’s share of enquiries. Most of these
enquiries are done in batch mode for purposes such as account management, and updating contact details. Details are provided in Table 5.
Table 5: All sectors – distribution according to sectors
Number of enquiries (Millions)
Equiries by:

Percentage change

Dec’08 Mar’09 Jun’09 Sep’09 Dec’09 Mar’10 Jun’10 Sep’10
Dec’08 Mar’08 Jun’09 Sep’09 Dec’09 Mar’10 Jun’10 Sep’10 Dec’10
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
Mar’09 Jun’09 Sep’09 Dec’09 Mar’10 Jun’10 Sep’10 Dec’10

Banks and other
financial institutions

40.82

41.86

48.34

49.40

45.23

53.04

52.37

76.34

95.69

Retailers

29.83

22.39

17.21

21.46

52.73

18.67

22.37

57.89

26.25 -24.9% -23.1%

24.7% 145.7% -64.6%

19.8% 158.8% -54.7%

Telecommunication
providers

12.30

14.13

28.75

40.73

23.79

25.75

31.48

27.36

26.18

14.9% 103.5%

41.7% -41.6%

8.3%

22.2% -13.1%

-4.3%

5.59

4.77

15.93

17.87

11.33

12.57

16.97

12.26

12.36 -14.8% 234.1%

12.1% -36.6%

11.0%

34.9% -27.7%

0.8%

15.74

11.76

16.84

13.79

14.81

12.16

16.00

16.17

Debt collection
agendes
All other entities
Total

12.99
101.53

98.89 121.99 146.30 146.88 124.84 135.34 189.84 176.65
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2.6%

15.5%

2.2%

-8.4%

21.2% -25.3%

43.5% -18.1%

-2.6%

19.9%

23.4%

17.3%

-1.3%

7.3% -17.9%

0.4% -15.0%

8.4%

45.8%

25.3%

31.5%

1.1%

40.3%

-6.9%

6. Operational Overview
Credit bureau compliance monitoring and enforcement
Credit bureaux are required to submit Form 43 (Compliance Return) on an annual basis by 15 March for the preceding year covering the
months of January to December. Form 43, which is submitted together with an independent auditor’s certification, is a view of the credit bureaux
overall business compliance with relevant Sections and regulations of the National Credit Act.
The submissions include confirmation that inconsistent and incorrect information has been removed from consumer’s records.
The non-compliance issues, which may be detected in these reports, are managed and monitored for compliance by the NCR’s department
of Credit Information and Research (CI&R) to ensure that bureaux’s rectify non-compliance. Where necessary, cases are referred to the NCR’s
Investigations Department for full legal investigation and action.
The specific role of Compliance Assurance, as practised by the CI&R department, focuses on compliance assurance by registered credit bureaux.
The intention is to facilitate positive interaction and engagement with bureaux as co-operation typically occurs more naturally in an environment
that is conducive. However, this approach to compliance assurance and the position of ‘conducive engagement’ will not impede the ability or
willingness of the NCR to drive hard and proper enforcement recommendations where these may prove to be necessary for non-compliant
bureaux.
National Loans Register
With the approval of Compuscan’s application to host the National Loans Register, there are now three fully active hosting bureaux. The
implication of this is that the wider hosting base ensures that credit providers have more choice in accessing the data from the National Loans
Register. XDS has also applied to host the database. Their application has been approved and XDS now developing infrastructure for this
purpose.
Statistics
Analysis conducted by the NCR’s Statistics Department reveals for the twelve months ended December 2010, the total value of credit granted
amounted to R287.76 billion compared with R219.25 billion in 2009 year, representing an increase of R68.52 billion (31.25%) in credit granted.
The value of the outstanding debtors book increased by 4,89% or R55.41 billion over the same period. The value of the debtors’ book as at
December 2010 was R1.19 trillion, comprised of 35 million accounts. Details are provided in Figure 2.
Figure 2: Total credit granted and gross debtors book December 2007 to December 2010
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For the quarter ended December 2007, the total rand value of new credit granted was R102.37 billion. Mortgages comprised R53.14 billion
(51.91%), while unsecured credit was R7.94 billion (7.75%).
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For the quarter ended December 2010, the total rand value of new credit granted was R83. 53 billion, with mortgages comprising R26.87 billion
(32.17%). Unsecured credit has grown steadily to R16.83 billion (20.15%) since the quarter ended December 2007. It is evident that credit
providers are increasing the size of the unsecured lending market.
This growth in unsecured lending is mainly driven by the banks, which have increased their loan sizes to R100,000 and maximum loan-term to
72 months. Details are provided in Figure 3.
Figure 3: Percentage distribution of different credit types
% Distribution of different credit types
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In terms of the provincial distribution of credit granted, the largest share of the credit granted is to consumers in Gauteng. For the twelve months
ended December 2010, Gauteng, Western Cape and KwaZulu-Natal accounted for R210.15 billion (73.03%) of all credit granted. Details appear
in Figure 4.
Figure 4: Provincial Distribution of credit granted from January 2009 to December 2010
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6. Operational Overview
Figure 5: Percentage distribution of credit granted as at December 2010
Percentage distribution of credit granted as at December 2010
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For the period ended December 2010, mortgages granted amounted to R26.87 billion, of which R24.66 billion (92.55%) went to consumers
earning more than R15,000 per month. This figure has been very consistent for the past five reporting periods. Consumers earning less than
R15,000 per month received R1.98 billion (7.45%) of all mortgages granted. (Mortgages granted to juristic persons are included in the total
credit granted, but excluded when reporting in respect of gross monthly income of individuals).
Secured credit, which comprised mainly vehicle finance and furniture transactions, accounted for R28.12 billion. Of this amount R21.05 billion
(75.35%) went to consumers earning more than R15,000 per month. Consumers who earn less than R15,000 per month received 69.45% of
unsecured credit, 78.36% of short-term credit and 52.78% of credit cards, store cards and revolving credit in terms of rand values. Details appear
in Figure 6.
Figure 6: Disbursements per rand value according to income category
Disbursements per rand value according to income category 0
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Consumer Credit Report
The NCR published five issues of the Consumer Credit Market Report, based on information submitted by the largest credit providers in South
Africa. These credit providers account for 90% of the consumer credit market. The Consumer Credit Market Report is widely distributed to
industry players and key stakeholders.
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Highlights from the December 2010 Consumer Credit Market Report are provided below:
• Consumers in South Africa owed credit providers R1.19 trillion in household debt as at December 2010.This represents an industry increase
of 1.84% for the period ended September 2010 to December 2010, and a year-on-year increase of 4.89%.
• R760 billion (64%) of the debt owed was in the form of mortgages, followed by vehicle and furniture at 19%, and credit facilities (credit
cards, store cards, overdrafts) at 11%.
• R1.07 trillion (90%) of the outstanding debt was owed to the major retail banks.
• There were about 35 million consumer credit active accounts, of which 64% represents credit cards, store cards and overdrafts. There was
an increase of 1.68% in the number of consumer credit accounts when compared to the quarter ended September 2010.
• New credit granted stood at R287.76 billion for the 12 months ended December 2010, compared to R219.25 billion for 2009, representing
an increase of R68.52 billion (31.25%).
• The number of applications received for credit for the 12 months ended December 2010 was 26,17 million compared to 23,56 million for
the 12 months ended December 2009. The number of applications rejected for the 12 months ended December 2010 was 10,66 million
representing a rejection rate of 41%.
• R98.67 billion (34%) of the credit granted for the 12 months ended December 2010, was in the form of secured credit (mainly vehicle
finance) and R97.63 billion (34%) was in respect of mortgages.
• On average, 92% of rand value of new mortgages granted were to individuals earning more than R15 000 per month in terms of the rand
value of credit granted.
• 59% of short-term credit transactions were granted to consumers earning less than R10 000 per month in terms of rand values
• For the 12 months ended December 2010, Gauteng province accounted for 45% or R129.55 billion (45%) of new credit granted, followed
by Western Cape and KwaZulu-Natal, with 15% and 13% respectively.
• There was an improvement in the number of accounts falling into arrears for all credit types.
Registration
Applications for registration by credit providers have stabilised. A total of 4 473 credit providers (2010: 4168) with a combined total of 34 896
branches, 11 credit bureaux and 1 942 debt counsellors (2010: 1 642) are now registered with the NCR. (A register of all registrants can be
accessed through the NCR website: www.ncr.org.za).
Information regarding the categories and the number of registered credit providers is provided in Chart 1:
Chart 1: Registered credit providers per province
Registered credit providers per province
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Debt counsellors
Debt counsellors are drawn from a range of professions and disciplines. It is interesting to note that while the largest grouping can be classified
as administrators. The second largest grouping, equal in size to those on the legal/paralegal sector, is self-employed individuals, focusing largely on
debt counselling as a business. Details appear in Chart 2.
Chart 2: Registered debt counsellors by profession
Registered debt counsellors by Profession
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The majority of debt counsellors operate in Gauteng, followed by the Western Cape and KwaZulu-Natal provinces with the greatest amount of
economic activity, and the largest populations in the country. A breakdown of the proportion of registered debt counsellors, operating in each
of the provinces is provided in Chart 3.
Chart 3: Registered debt counsellors per province
Registered debt counsellors per province
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Research confirms that debt counsellors are generally well-qualified. Some 52% of debt counsellors either have a degree or diploma, while the
balance either have a matric or a National Qualifications Framework Level 4 qualification.

24

Compliance monitoring of registrants
With most of the credit industry participants registered, there
has been a shift away from the processing of applications to
making sure that registrants comply with the conditions of
their registration, provisions of the NCA and its Regulations.
Activities include, but are not limited to undertaking compliance
analysis on the Top 20 significant entities/credit providers (this
refers to large credit providers based on the number of credit
agreements and number of branches), and undertaking a market
conduct study on a ‘Flavour of the Quarter,’ with the research
topic informed by what has been observed in the media. This
also includes investigating and reviewing the complaints that
have been received. At least five credit providers are used for
the study.
For credit providers, the emphasis was on submission and
approval of language policy proposals, timely submission of
statutory reports such as the Form 39 statistical return, the
Assurance Engagement Report and analysis of Annual Financial
Statements and the Compliance Report as required by the
NCA. Any non-compliance issues identified in these reports
are reviewed, where after, if necessary, letters of undertaking for
corrrective action may be requested, and serious transgressions
may be referred to the Management Enforcement and
Compliance Committee where various decisions are made on action to be taken against such contravenors.
The payment of annual registration renewal fees on or before the due date is also monitored. Failure to pay annual registration fees, may result
in the credit agreements entered into during this period being rendered null and void and therefore, unenforceable in terms of the Act.
During the period under review, the NCR met with Micro Finance South Africa (MFSA), the Credit Provider Association, the South African
Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA) and the South African Institute of Public Accountants (SAIPA), among others, to improve stakeholder
engagement and to create partnerships. These organisations have assisted by ensuring their members are educated and informed about the
requirements of the NCA, with a strong focus on compliance with the conditions of registrations, including statutory reporting requirements.
Compliance reviews
Compliance reviews were undertaken. Areas of non-compliance included: interest calculations, the calculation of fees, the charging of additional
fees when loans had been consolidated, the extension of credit without first conducting an affordability assessment as well as marketing and
advertising material that is not in line with the provisions of the Act. Where shortcomings were identified, the NCR provided support or ensured
that enforcement action is undertaken where necessary. The parties concerned were required to provide additional information and letters of
undertaking requiring them to rectify shortcomings within particular timeframes were issued, with positive responses received in most instances.
Debt counselling
The NCR has made considerable strides in the area of debt counselling. To date more than 1 942 debt counsellors have been registered
nationally, and some 240 399 applications for debt counselling have been processed since inception.
The demand for debt counselling has remained fairly consistent, with an average of 6 000 new applications processed on a monthly basis. The
levels of over-indebtedness are so great that in some instances, it is difficult for consumers to maintain regular payments to Payment Distribution
Agencies (PDAs). This results in consumers being terminated from the debt review process. The increase in fuel prices, and the subsequent
knock-on effect on basic commodity price increases, are contributing factors. The actual number of consumers actively in debt counselling has,
therefore, not changed much over the past year. We have, however, noted an increase in the number of consumers paying through PDAs, from
about 46 000 in April 2010 to 63 000 in March 2011.
The following is a summary of pertinent statistics as at 31 March 2011:
• Over 240 399 consumers have applied to be under debt review;
• Almost half have been rejected as not being over-indebted, awaiting approval, terminated, withdrawn or rehabilitated;
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•
•
•
•

•

An estimated 110 000 cases remain under ‘active’ debt review;
On average, about 6 000 consumers are applying for debt counselling per month;
25 223 cases have been resolved through the courts, a further 31 035 are still on the roll;
PDA Reports show that approximately 105 000 consumers have been logged by debt counsellors, with an estimated double-count of
about 20%. The double count is mainly as a result of the following: (a) when debt counsellors ‘move’ from one PDA to another the previous
PDA would show the lost consumers as ‘non-paying’, and (b) many of these ‘non-paying’ consumers may be making payments directly at
their banks, without using a PDA or (c) debt counsellors loading customers at PDAs but not giving instruction to the customer to pay or
to have the PDA collect on the account (likelihood that scenarios are no activated in these cases). (d) consumers simply defaulting on their
obligations and remaining on PDA system long after being terminated from the process; and
Around 65% of these consumers are paying regularly.

Figure 7 shows the gradual increase in debt counselling applications for the financial year.
Figure 7: Debt counselling applications
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The NCR has attempted to address other challenges relating to interpretation of the NCA by proposing amendments to the Act.The NCR had
commissioned the University of Pretoria Law Clinic to do an assessment on the debt-counselling sector.
The conclusions drawn by the research team are summarised below:
• The Act and Regulations are inadequate in regulating the debt counselling process and need to be amended and supplemented;
• Credit providers and debt counsellors are unable to keep to the time-limits as set out in the Act and Regulations, resulting in the 60 day
period not being attained, despite some improvement in this regard;
• A lack of trust among debt counsellors in the bona fides of credit providers persists, and there is an increasing lack of trust in consumer
bona fides;
• Some debt counsellors and credit provider employees lack the skills and knowledge to perform debt counselling effectively and efficiently,
resulting in ill-informed proposals and actions; and
• Since the previous University of Pretoria Debt Counselling Assessment Report, terminations in terms of Section 86(10) and the availability
of certain courts have become major issues.
The issues highlighted by the Report on proposed amendments are summarised below:
• The requirements pertaining to the education, experience and competence of debt counsellors;
• The issue as to whether the High Court or the Magistrate’s Court has the powers in terms of Section 85;
• A new Form 16 that would assist debt counsellors in obtaining sufficient and correct details from their clients;
• The fees that may be recovered by debt counsellors and the amendment of Section 86(3);
• The amendment of Section 86(2) by substituting the words ‘Section 129’ with ‘Section 130’
• The type of information a credit provider is required to provide to the debt counsellor pursuant to a request in terms of regulation 24(3)
for verification of information provided by the consumer;
• Amendment of Section 86(8) to include the instance where a recommendation is made by the debt counsellor in terms of Section 86(7)
(c) and to specifically provide for the obtaining of a consent order when a debt restructuring proposal is accepted by all credit providers;
• The procedure to be followed in court when a matter is “referred” to the Magistrate’s Court;
• Amendment of Sections 86(7)(c) and 87 to enforce discharge of a consumer’s debt obligation;
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•
•
•

Regulation of Payment Distribution Agencies (PDAs);
Withdrawal process; and
An amendment to Section 86(10).

Training
The NCR continues to support debt counsellors. A service provider has been appointed to provide practical training to registered debt
counsellors. During the year under review, 186 debt counsellors were trained. The NCR also conducted road shows for debt counsellors,
following the finalisation of the Task Team Report.
Seven training institutions have been accredited to train debt counsellors: Association of University Legal Aid Institutions, Rudo Research and
Training, Damelin, Institute of Bankers, You and Your Money, Credit Skills Training as well as Summit Financial.
Debt counsellor monitoring
The NCR is committed to ensuring that debt counsellors maintain the requisite standards. Monitoring visits enable the NCR to identify
areas of non-compliance and to provide support. In instances where
serious non-compliance has been identified, matters were escalated
to the NCR’s Investigations Department for an investigation, with a
view to enforcement. A number of these led to debt counsellors being
de-registered and prosecuted. The NCR’s philosophy in this regard is
to provide support and encouragement to debt counsellors and not
merely to monitor compliance of debt counsellors.
There has been a noticeable improvement in the quality of monitoring
visits as a result of an increase in capacity. This is also reflected in
the great improvements during the year under review, in which 609
monitoring visits were conducted.
Debt counselling fees and low income subsidies
The NCR established a fund to pay the cost of debt counselling for
consumers, earning less than R2 500.00 per month, and households
earning less than R3 500.00 per month. The fund for low income
earners was fully used up by 31 March 2011. Additional funding has not
been made available. Contrary to expectations, fewer consumers falling
within the subsidy income thresholds applied for debt counselling. Debt
counsellors complained that the fee was too low given the amount
of work involved in handling a debt counselling case. It would appear
that some of the debt counsellors simply avoided handling cases when
consumers fall into this category. The NCR will not provide debt
counsellors with assistance to render services to low income earners in
the new financial year. There is, however, a need to relook how best to
serve lower end income consumers in order to ensure that the poor
are not precluded from debt counselling. During the year under review
460 consumers benefited from the fund.
Debt Counselling Department
The NCR commissioned the services of economic policy and research
company Feasibility (Pty) Ltd to conduct a review of the current debt
counselling fee guidelines in order to ascertain whether the fees are adequate for debt counsellors to deliver a service, or whether they need
to be revised. The study found the current fee guidelines were clearly based on the value of the total monthly repayment that can be afforded
by the client. The report showed the value of the monthly repayment is not necessarily correlated with the number of creditors. At the one end
are low-income clients, with perhaps four or five credit agreements, none of which are asset-based. At the high end, are consumers with millions
of rands of debt, and many credit agreements. Both extremes are dealt with through the same fee formula.
At the low-end, affordability is so low that the fee to the debt counsellor is scarcely worthwhile. At the high-end, the capped fees the
work necessary to regularise the customer’s affairs. In both cases, the report suggested a need for revision. Consequently, Feasibility made
recommendations regarding proposed fee changes.These have been endorsed through the Debt Review Advisory Committee (DRAC), and the
NCR has, in principle, accepted the new fee guidelines. The NCR hope to have the new fees guidelines implemented in the new financial year.
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Payment Distribution Agencies
Payment Distribution Agencies (PDAs) are tasked with collecting money from consumers and distributing this to credit providers in accordance
with restructuring agreements. Five PDAs currently provide this service.
PDAs are proving to be an efficient mechanism for debtors to pay creditors. Monies disbursed by PDAs increased substantially over the past year.
Challenges in the PDA environment still exist, though improvements in the manner in which PDAs operate has been noted from the periodic
audits conducted by the NCR on these entities, as well as reports from their statutory audits.The NCR will continue to monitor PDAs to ensure
compliance with the service level agreement.
At the end of March 2011 PDAs distributed R2.48 billion to creditors. Since inception in March 2008, PDAs have disbursed R4.071 billion to
credit providers. Details of payments distributed by PDAs over the past two financial years appear in Table 6 and Figure 8.
Table 6: Monthly distributions by PDAs
Year 09/10

Amount Distributed to Creditors

Year 10/11

Amount Distributed to Creditors

Apr-09

R 56 030 006.61

Apr-10

R 165 232 422.56

May-09

R 65 969 830.04

May-10

R 182 292 810.06

Jun-09

R 65 123 763.21

Jun-10

R 192 014 094.38

Jul-09

R 95 275 500.63

Jul-10

R 186 059 695.04

Aug-09

R 97 044 710.52

Aug-10

R 207 498 017.80

Sep-09

R 107 706 232.22

Sep-10

R 214 421 940.32

Oct-09

R 125 845 313.52

Oct-10

R 213 731 499.25

Nov-09

R 134 094 525.54

Nov-10

R 226 015 925.11

Dec-09

R 157 670 718.19

Dec-10

R 231 022 116.02

Jan-10

R 128 008 507.11

Jan-11

R 204 674 492.92

Feb-10

R 169 889 357.89

Feb-11

R 234 586 917.18

Mar-10

R 156 406 008.88

Mar-11

R 224 354 121.59

TOTAL

R 1 359 064 474.36

TOTAL

R 2 481 904 052.23

Figure 8: Monthly distributions to creditors.
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The amount distributed by PDAs in the 2009/10 financial year was R1.359 billion. Payments over the course of the last financial year increased
82%. The average monthly distribution in the 2009/10 financial year was R113 million, compared with the average for the past year of R206
million.
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Complaints, investigations and enforcement
The NCR must ensure compliance with the NCA by all relevant parties. It
does so by monitoring the credit market, receiving complaints, investigating
contraventions and taking various compliance enforcement actions - from
issuing Compliance Notices, to referring matters to, and appearing before the
National Consumer Tribunal.
The NCR has also been tasked with promoting the informal resolution of
disputes arising in terms of the National Credit Act, 34 of 2005, between
credit providers, or credit bureaux and consumers, without interfering in,
or adjudicating, those disputes. The Complaints Department is responsible
for receiving, evaluating and resolving consumer complaints against credit
providers, credit bureaux and debt counsellors who contravene the Act.
The NCR also fulfils an advisory role in terms of:
• Protecting consumers against discrimination in credit granting;
• Protecting consumers against punitive measures imposed by credit
providers;
• Ensuring that consumers have access to required information; and
• Referring consumers to relevant bodies or agencies that will assist in
resolving disputes.
In fulfilling this role, the NCR ensures that it is independent, impartial and
objective.
Complaints handling and resolution
In terms of the NCA, the NCR is tasked with promoting the informal resolution
of disputes. Some of the complaints and enquires are refered to Provincial
Consumer Affairs Offices and Ombud Schemes for informal resolution. Since
inception 10 570 complaints have been received and processed.
During the year under review 2 347 formal complaints (complaints within
the NCR’s jurisdiction) were formally captured and investigated. Some 2 111
formal complaints were resolved. Of these 37,75% were resolved within 30
days, 28,16% within 60 days, 17,02% within 90 days and 17,07% after 90 days.

Investigations and Enforcement Department

Of the total complaints received, 1 012 were classified as ordinary complaints.
This category includes complaints regarding high interest rates, failure to provide account statements, the cancellation of holiday club membership
and other similar issues. The balance of 1 335 were debt counselling complaints, which include, but were not limited to non-issuance of
notification to credit providers, non-distribution of funds, unprofessional conduct of debt counsellors, and other related matters.
The resolution of these complaints resulted in R367 103.98 being refunded to consumers and R244 816.65 being favourably adjusted to
outstanding consumer loan account balances.
Seventy-four notices of non-referral were issued to complainants in matters deemed frivolous or vexatious, or which did not fall within the
ambit of the NCA.
Stakeholder relationships
Section 15 of the NCA obligates the NCR to promote informal resolution of disputes by referring disputes to certain institutions. A number
of meetings were held with Provincial Consumer Affairs Offices. The purpose of these meetings was to discuss challenges in implementing the
NCA, training needs, co-operative arrangements and compliance enforcement challenges.
We subsequently conducted workshops for the Northern Cape, Eastern Cape and Mpumalanga Provincial Affairs Offices. Meetings were held
with the Ombudsman for the Banking Services, Ombudsman for Long Term Insurance, Motor Industry Ombudsman, National Debt Mediation
Association (NDMA), the office of the Ombud for Financial Services Providers (FAIS Ombud), Debt Collectors Council and the Advertising
Standards Authority of South Africa (ASASA) to discuss the referral process and sharing best practice in complaints resolution.
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Workshops were also conducted with various credit providers relating to the NCA and the complaints resolution processes. The workshops
have impacted positively on dispute resolution time frames.
Internal capacity-building
Four quarterly evaluation exercises were conducted by our Registrations Department wherein call centre agents were called and assessed on
product knowledge, telephone etiquette and professionalism. The reports were positive, identifying only minor areas of improvement.
The entire department, call centre agents and complaints officers, attended a debt counselling course, which equipped them to better understand
debt counselling issues and to improve effectiveness and efficiency.
Investigations and enforcement
Since the NCA is probably the largest piece of legislation that has been implemented since the advent of democracy in South Africa, a fair
amount of litigation is to be expected. During the period under review four high profile cases, amongst others, ensured visible enforcement
against high profile abusive practices.
High profile cases
Brusson Finance
As reported in last year’s financial report, the NCR acted on behalf of two consumers, in its case against a reverse mortgage operator, Brusson
Finance (Pty) Ltd. The reverse mortgage scheme had resulted in a number of consumers losing their homes. See Article 1, published in the
Sunday Times on 8 August 2010.

After receiving numerous complaints from consumers, the NCR investigated the
scheme and instituted legal proceedings, together with two borrowers who had
lost their homes in the scheme.The scheme involved the registration of mortgage
bonds over more than 570 houses with a combined value of R214 million, which
affected almost 1 000 consumers. The NCR sought declaratory relief that the
scheme was contrary to the provisions of the NCA and offended common
law in South Africa. The Free State High Court ruled in favour of the NCR and
declared the contracts unlawful and void from the beginning. The judgment
accords with the NCR’s view that reverse mortgage schemes of money lending
falls within the realm of the NCA, and accordingly, consumers are entitled to the
protection afforded by the NCA when entering such a transaction.
Subsequent to the court order granted in the Free State High Court, the NCR
further successfully intervened, as co-applicant, in Brusson’s winding-up.The effect
of the winding-up order is that Brusson will not be able to alienate or deal with
assets, as this will fall under the control of the Master of the North Gauteng High
Court.
The ruling in the Free State High Court set a precedent and had a major impact on
the industry. Through the test case, the NCR, legal representatives and consumer
organisations are able to assist consumers who are in a similar predicament. The
outcome in this case has therefore impacted a large number of consumers.
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Wesbank/Papier
In a second case, a full bench in the Western Cape High Court ruled that credit providers cannot terminate the debt review process if a
consumer’s application for debt re-arrangement has been lodged with a magistrate court by a debt counsellor within 60 days of receiving it
(see article 2).
The case involved motor vehicle financier, Wesbank, which argued that it was entitled to terminate the debt review process of a customer
because 60 days had lapsed from the day he approached a debt counsellor to restructure his debt. This was despite the debt counsellor having
lodged an application for debt review before a Magistrates Court and the customer having made regular payments to his creditors under a
debt-restructuring plan.
The High Court ruled that the objective of the NCA was to provide protection and assistance to over-indebted consumers in an environment
that encouraged both borrowers and lenders to participate in good faith. Wesbank has referred this judgment to the Supreme Court of Appeal
and, at the time of this report, the appeal has not yet been heard.
African Bank Ltd v Myambo No and Others [2010] JOL 26060 (GNP)
The judgment by the North Gauteng High Court, in a case brought by African Bank, constitutes a major step forward in the interpretation of
consumer protection legislation.
The matter considered the interaction between Section 58 of the Magistrate’s Court Act (MCA) and the provisions of the NCA.
Section 58 of the MCA provides a procedure whereby debtors can elect to sign consent to a judgment when served with a letter of demand
or summons. In the matter, to which the NCR requested to be joined, a declaratory order was sought to establish what the position would be,
if a Section 58 of the MCA consent judgment agreement related to a credit agreement under the NCA.
The court found that, in order to obtain a consent judgment in terms of Section 58, the credit provider needed to comply with certain
requirements such as Section 129 and 130 of the NCA. The summons or letter of demand served on the debtor should deal with each one of
the relevant provisions of Section 129 and 130 of the NCA and should allege that each had been complied with.
It should further contain allegations that the consumer is in default and that he or she has been in default for at least 20 business days. The court
further held that the Clerk of the Court should refer the matter to court when there is uncertainty as to whether granting judgment against
the consumer might be in conflict with the NCA. The Magistrate may, at that stage, also require proof of any fact or document to determine
whether a credit agreement under the NCA is at issue, or if there is an allegation that the consumer is over-indebted. Magistrates are entitled
to interrogate the application and require proof by a credit provider of any fact or document to determine whether the credit provider should
act in terms of Section 85 of the NCA.
The judgment, in favour of consumers obliges clerks of the courts and magistrates to take cognisance of the provisions of the NCA before
consent orders are given.
Debt Monitoring SA v NCR and Others case number 38342/10 (NGD)
Instances of theft/maladministration of consumers’ funds by debt counsellors/non-approved payment distributions agencies (PDAs) who were
commissioned to receive funds from consumers under debt review and distribute them to credit providers, alerted the NCR to the need to
regularise the receipt and distribution of consumer funds. To this end, three years ago, the NCR issued a tender and approved five PDA’s that
were exclusively authorised to receive and distribute consumers’ funds. Simultaneously the NCR prohibited debt counsellors from performing
this function through their conditions of registration and required debt counsellors to only make use of approved PDAs.
In this case, Debt Monitoring SA, a non-approved payment distribution agency, challenged the NCR’s approach. The court dismissed Debt
Monitoring SA’s application of to be approved as a payment distribution agency and confirmed the NCR was entitled to limit the function of
debt counsellors through the Conditions of Registration.
NCR v Nedbank Ltd [2011] ZASCA 35
Nedbank Ltd v NCR and Others 2009(6) SA295 (GNP)
Declaratory Order
The Supreme Court of Appeal (SCA) ruled on two important aspects of the NCA. Its decision will affect the credit agreements consumers can
include under the debt review process and the total amount of fees and interest credit providers can charge consumers in default.
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The case dates back to 2008, when the NCR launched an application in the North Gauteng High Court for clarity on several matters pertaining
to the debt counselling process. Some of the parties took the findings of the High Court on appeal to the Supreme Court of Appeal in
Bloemfontein.
On appeal, one of the aspects of the NCA which came under the spotlight was the applicability of the common law in duplum rule as applied
by the South African courts to a similar provision in the NCA, Section 103 (5).
The common rule law dictates that the unpaid and arrears interest that a consumer owes may not exceed the outstanding capital at the time
of default. Once the unpaid interest reaches the unpaid capital sum, the interest ceases to accumulate. However, when debtors start to repay
their debt, the payments are offset against the interest owed and interest can be charged again until the point at which it equals the outstanding
capital. Any payments by the debtor must be first apportioned to interest.
The Supreme Court of Appeal ruled the NCA differs from the common law rule in that it is not limited to interest, but also includes: initiation
fees, service fees, credit insurance, default administration charges and collection costs. It is when the total of these charges, which accrue when the
consumer is in default, equal the amount of the unpaid principal debt that no further charges may be levied. This applies even if the consumer,
in the interim, makes payments and applies until the default is completely settled.
In the second issue, the Supreme Court of Appeal agreed with the bank’s approach and interpretation of the NCA and found that as soon as a
consumer receives a Section 129 Notice in respect of a specific agreement, that agreement is excluded from any debt review process.
Investigations
During the year under review, 68 investigations were mandated. Some of these investigations were conducted in respect of credit providers in
fee categories one to four (banks, retailers, other credit providers), credit bureaux or related to complicated abusive practices.
Some 66 investigations were completed in this financial year, some of which had been sanctioned in the previous year. Compliance by debt
counsellors with the Act and their conditions of registration has been a priority, and therefore, 35 investigations were specifically conducted on
debt counsellors.
Despite the NCR’s limited capacity, 77 visible enforcement actions were undertaken, which included 10 cases referred to the National Consumer
Tribunal.
Non-compliant debt counsellors
The focus during the past financial year was on non-compliant debt counsellors, who are very much to blame for the position that a number of
consumers find themselves in. A number of investigations were conducted as a result of abusive practices that were identified and a number
of debt counsellors were de-registered through the NCT process. Of major concern were instances in which debt counsellors, who received
money directly from their clients, distributed such monies in contravention of their conditions of registration.
In one instance the NCR conducted an investigation following complaints from consumers that they were being harassed by credit providers,
even though these consumers were under debt review. Some complainants lost their assets, including property such as homes.
Investigations revealed that an attorney, who was a registered debt counsellor was charging consumers a 10% collection commission prior to
paying the monies, intended to be paid to credit providers, to PDAs. Furthermore, investigations revealed that debt counselling was not being
conducted in the manner set out in the NCA, with the effect of bringing debt counselling and the NCR into disrepute. Approximately 4 808
consumers were affected through this practice.
Due to the NCR taking action against this particular debt counsellor, and two companies which he used to conduct debt counselling, the NCR
has successfully sent a clear message to all other debt counsellors who are conducting business in a similar manner that such acts are wrong
and will not be tolerated.
The debt counsellor was ordered to refund consumers’ debt counselling fees, where it was found he had not referred the matter to court. He
also had to refund all 4 808 consumers the 10% collection commission he had charged. The NCT cancelled his registration as a debt counsellor.
However, the debt counsellor has taken the matter on appeal and this appeal is still in process. The NCR’s success in this matter has resulted in
a large number of consumers being afforded their rights in terms of the NCA and being protected by the NCR from abuse by debt counsellors.
Typical contraventions by debt counsellors include:
• Non-compliance with timeframes;
• Poor administration;
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•
•
•
•
•

Irregularities pertaining to receiving and distributing clients’ monies;
Not using an approved Payment Distribution Agency;
Receiving fees from clients, but then not providing any debt counselling services;
Closing down businesses and disappearing, which has disastrous consequences for clients;
Engaging in criminal activities e.g. theft of clients’ monies.

Enforcement
Some 12 Compliance Notices were issued, of which 6 notices were issued to credit providers and 6 to debt counsellors. In addition, a total of
16 instructional letters were also sent to non-complying entities and 24 formal written undertakings were received.
In one instance a compliance notice was issued to an unregistered credit provider who purportedly granted home loans. Apart from acting
illegally due to non-registration, the credit provider also took deposits from consumers. The compliance notice resulted in R5.5 million being
repaid to 179 consumers.
Some of the major credit providers have been very obstructive in terms of the debt-review process. They have taken every technical available
avenue to terminate the debt review process, or terminate the process after 60 days.The NCR has acted as a Friend of the Court in 27 of these
cases.Details of court cases appear under the Highlights Section of this report. Although the NCR received a very favourable judgment from a
full bench in the Western Cape High Court, these matters are likely to escalate through the legal process and only be put to rest at a later stage
by the Supreme Court of Appeal or the Constitutional Court.
The NCR has been able to afford consumers the protection to which they are entitled in terms of the NCA as well as to promote a change in
behaviour amongst registrants who previously contravened the NCA, through its enforcement action both in the NCT and the Courts.
Following the issuing of compliance notices and an instructional letters R5618459.59 was repaid to affected consumers and an additional R611
920.63 returned through refunds or balance adjustments as a consequence of the resolution of complaints. Details appear in Table 7 and Table 8.
Table 7: Repayments to consumers following enforcement action
Matter

Value

Repayment

McCabe/PKA/Arctogen/Quickvest

R5 528 738.96

Following a compliance notice an amount of R5 528 738.96 has been
refunded to 179 affected consumers.

Susarah Smit

R24 764.08

Following a compliance notice Ms. Smit refunded R24 764.08 to affected
consumers.

Christopher Dhelminie

R3 000.00

Following an instructional letter Mr. Dhelminie refunded R3 000.00 to an
affected consumer.

Sello Mapeka

R61 955.55

Following our investigation Wesbank wrote off an amount of R61 955.55
owed by Mr. Mapeka.

Table 8: Refunds and balance adjustments as a result of the resolution of complaints
Matter

Value

Repayment

Refunds

R367 103.98

104 consumers were refunded by 64 registrants.

Balance adjustments

R244 816.65

29 consumers’ accounts were favourably adjusted by 10 registrants.

Consumer education and communication
Consumer education
Education and provision of information play a vital role in raising awareness around the provisions of the NCA. The NCR deploys a variety of
different strategies to communicate to several different target audiences and a broad consumer base. Strategies include communication through
print media, radio, television, outside broadcasts, exhibitions, workshops, the NCR’s website and targeted awareness campaigns. Since inception,
the NCR website has recorded 201 142 hits.
In order to successfully reach its stakeholders, the NCR has partnered with industry associations through the Consumer Protection Forum
(CPF), which is comprised of: the National Consumer Forum (NCF), the Financial Services Board (FSB), Independent Communications Authority
of South Africa (ICASA), the National Energy Regulator of South Africa (Nersa), Council for Medical Schemes (CMS) and Provincial Consumer
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Affairs Directorates.The NCR also has information-sharing sessions with interest groups such as trade unions, the South African Institute of
Chartered Accountants (SAICA), South African Institute of Professional Accountants (SAIPA), the Banking Association, and Law Societies.
Workshops
Some 445 workshops were held, and 92 849 delegates attended the workshops. The workshops covered issues such as how to deal with over
indebtedness, consumer rights, responsibilities and obligations. Workshops were held in each of South Africa’s nine provinces.
The workshops targeted government, NGOs, trade unions, employers, industry stakeholders, parliamentary constituencies and tribal authorities.
Further information concerning the number of workshops that were held for each of these constituents is provided in Table 9.
The NCR hosted an Annual National Debt Counselling conference, which was attended by 500 registered debt counsellors across the country.
The purpose of this conference was to address the daily challenges faced by debt counsellors and credit providers when dealing with debt
counselling.
Table 9: Stakeholder workshops
Stakeholder Workshop

2010

Government

2011
106

170

NGOs

47

48

Trade unions

18

19

Employers
Industry stakeholders
Constituency and Tribal authorities
Total
Total since inception

47

47

181

129

16
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415

445

1 438

1 883

During the period under review the NCR has collaborated with the South African Savings Institute (SASI). The aim of the campaign was to
create awareness amongst tertiary students on their rights and responsibiities when taking up credit, debt management and the importance of
saving. The campaign was rolled out through out the country on tertiary institution’s campuses. Collaboration with the Debt Collectors Council
entailed the hosting of workshops to educate consumers on debt collections procedures and consumer rights under the Debt Collectors Act
of 1998.
Workshops were also held in partnership with the Association of Private Providers of Education Training and Development (APPETD) and the
Burial Society of South Africa (BUOSA) and affiliated members and members of the community in the various provinces.
The NCR has, as a result of its continuous engagement with government regarding the state of the credit market, held four briefing sessions with
the provincial Economic Development Portfolio Committees in the Eastern Cape, Western Cape. Limpopo and KwaZulu-Natal.
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Communication
The year under review has proved a bumper year in terms of media coverage. The Advertising Value Equivalent (AVE) of received media
coverage, including campaigns was R121 million. Media coverage increased by 73%, while coverage in print media articles declined by 0,5%.
Coverage from radio programmes also declined by 0,5%, while the number of website visitors increased by 0,164%. Details appear in Table 10.
Table 10: Media coverage
Media coverage

2010

2011

% increase or decrease

Advertising Value Equivalent (AVE)

R98,1 million

R121 million

+23%

Education/print and broadcasts consumer adverts

37

64

+73%

Print media articles

1 653

1 645

-0,5%

Television interviews/appearances

57

99

+55%

Call-in radio programmes all languages

442

421

-0,5%

Website visitors

240 596

201 142

-16%

The NCR is part of the Consumer Protection Forum, comprised of the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI), nine Provincial Consumer
Affairs Directorates, the Financial Services Board (FSB), the Council for Medical Aid Schemes (CMS), the Independent Communications Authority
of South Africa (ICASA) and other regulators.
15 March is celebrated internationally as World Consumer Rights Day. This year’s celebrations were themed “Consumers for Fair Financial
Services”.
Human capital
During the year under review, the staff complement increased by 25% year-on-year. As at 31 March 2011, the NCR had a staff complement of
112 staff including 7 employees on fixed term contracts, and 1 temporary staff member.
Details of the NCR’s Employment Equity profile are provided in Chart 4 and Chart 5.
While policies are reviewed on an ongoing basis, retention policies are also continuously revised to enhance employee satisfaction and
development, and to minimise staff turnover.
Chart 4: Employee profile

Chart 5: Management profile
Management profile

Employee profile
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AF= African female
AM= African male
WF= White female
WM= White male
IM= Indian male
IF= Indian female
CF= Coloured female
CM= Coloured male
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Remuneration
The NCR makes every effort to recruit and retain high calibre staff. Remuneration is set at market-related levels through the consistent review
of market compensation practices. High-performing staff members are rewarded appropriately.
Training
Training and staff development remains a priority. Budget has been allocated to support training, which is relevant to employees’ areas of
responsibility.
The NCR believes it is very important to ensure staff are well-informed of changes in legislation and any developments in the consumer
credit industry. Staff training and information sessions included a workshop on the New Consumer Protection Act, a Credit Bureau Awareness
Workshop and a Provident Fund Workshop.
The NCR is delighted to announce that ten learners have been recruited and placed in the Debt Recovery Learnership. This is the first
learnership to be implemented at the NCR.

Debt Recovery LearnershipStudents
Employee Wellness
An outsourced provider provides a confidential Employee Wellness Programme to NCR staff at no cost to employees.The programme provides
support for a range of personal and work-related issues, including health, psychological and social issues. Overall participation in the programme
is 18.8%, which exceeds the service providers’ benchmark of an uptake of between 8% to 12%. The NCR attribute its participation rates to
the fact that the programme is well organised and well recognised. An Annual Wellness Day was held on 12 November 2010. Managers were
provided with Employee Wellness Programme training. NCR management and staff participated in the 702 Walk the Talk.
HR Policies
Policies are reviewed on a continuous basis to ensure compliance with existing labour legislation.
The Employer-Employee Consultative Forum
The Employer-Employee Consultative Forum has enhanced communication between management and staff, and has created a platform to deal
with issues in a proactive and structured manner. The short-term incentive scheme, amongst others, has been discussed in this Forum.
The staff association’s executive committee held its first strategic planning session in January 2011. The committee is tasked with coming up with
recommendations for the Forum’s mission, vision and values.
Staff events
The management team had a breakaway strategic planning workshop in July 2010.
The NCR was unfortunately unable to participate in Cell C’s Take a Girl Child to Work initiative as a result of the South African Democratic
Teachers’ Union (SADTU) strike. We look forward to participating in this event in the year ahead.
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Team building sessions were themed around the 2010 Soccer World Cup.The Soccer World Cup campaign included sports days and World Cup
final celebrations and competitions on Soccer Fridays. Cricket Fridays have also been celebrated in support of the South African cricket team.
Women’s Day was celebrated. Celebrations included a motivational speaker. Well-entrenched at the NCR, South Africa’s cultural diversity was
celebrated on Heritage Day. Employees were encouraged to wear their preferred traditional attire and to sample traditional food from different
cultures.
A kiddie’s party was held in November 2010, followed in December by the then CEO, Gabriel Davel’s farewell party and the year-end function.
Finance
The NCR is mainly financed from money appropriated by Parliament and fees payable in terms of the Act as well as income from the investment
of surplus funds.
Registration fees
The registration fees for the different categories of registrants are determined by the Minister of Trade and Industry and are published in the
Government Gazette. Registration fees are payable upon initial registration, and annually thereafter. The registration fees are summarised in the
accompanying table.
Table 11.
Registration fees
Credit Providers

Credit Bureaux

Debt Counsellors

Application fee

R500 per applicant

R500 per applicant

Nil

Initial and annual
registration fees

The registration fee varies depending on the size
of the applicant. It ranges from R1,500 for the
smallest category (principal debt of less than R1
million), to R300,000 for the largest category of
credit provider with principal debt greater than
R15 billion.

R10,000 plus R5 per 1,000
consumer credit enquiries,
not to exceed R200,000.

R100

Branch fee

R250 per location or premises. (Total branch fee
is limited to the amount of the registration fee for
the particular category).

Nil

Nil

The maximum annual cost of registration is therefore R1 750 for a small credit provider with only one branch and a total principal debt of less than
R1 million. The maximum annual cost of registration for a large credit provider with total principal debt of more than R15 billion is R600,000,
irrespective of the number of branches.
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6. Operational Overview
Financials are provided in Table 12.
Table 12
Financial results for the year ended

31 March 2011

31 March 2010

R

R

Total income

80,548,212

77,997,113

Expenditure

78,507,667

66,166,553

2,040,545

11,830,560

31 March 2011

31 March 2010

R mil

R mil

Net Surplus
Assets and liabilities at
Assets
Property, plant and equipment

8.2

6.4

74,2

73.0

1.4

1.2

83.8

80.6

Accumulated surplus and reserves

51.8

49.8

Current liabilities

32.0

30.8

83.8

80.6

Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets
Total Assets

Total net assets and liabilities

Financial results
Funding received from the Department of Trade and Industry constituted 57.1% of income for the NCR. Registration fees of R25,284,793
represent 31.4% of total income.
Personnel costs, being the largest expenditure item represents 46.9% of expenditure with professional fees of R14,428,091 million being equal
to 18.4% of total expenditure. Professional fees consist of payments to external investigators, consulting fees and legal fees. During the period
under review the NCR acquired assets to the value of R3 424 561 consisting primarily of computer equipment, leasehold improvements and
office equipment.
Assets and liabilities
Assets (88.55%) are held in cash and cash equivalents, with the remainder consisting of property, plant and equipment.The major items in current
liabilities are prepaid fees (36%), deferred annual fees (27.2%), and trade and other payables (18.95%).
Adoption of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice
With the exception of GRAP 104, the standards applicable for the year ended 31 March 2011 remain unchanged. However, 10 standards
applicable to the NCR have been revised and will be effective from 1 April 2011. The Minister of Finance has also determined the effective date
for 5 other standards. These will be effective from 1 April 2012.
NCR Information and Communications Technology (ICT)
Strategic Objectives
The key focus areas for the NCR with regard to ICT are:
• To develop an integrated systems architecture, which will support the needs of the NCR for the next 7 to 10 years;
• Replace the existing legacy systems with new technology, which will enable optimised business processes, and meet user-needs in an effective
manner;
• Over the next 24 months focus on the implementation and rollout of the NCR operations system; and
• Ensure that a comprehensive corporate database and dictionary are created, which contain all critical information needed by the NCR to
conduct its business.
NCR Systems development
As a guiding principle, the NCR prefers to outsource its ICT, but maintains accountability. The NCR’s preference is to acquire “off-the-shelf ”
packages, rather than bespoke systems.
Subsequent to the implementation of the optimised business processes, policies, procedures and the definition of the IT user requirements, the
NCR tendered for the development, implementation and maintenance of a new operational system to replace the legacy system.
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7. Corporate Governance
The NCR’s Accounting Authority subscribes to principles of good corporate and business practices. The principles of honesty, fairness, integrity,
responsibility, accountability and transparency guide all its decisions and activities. The Accounting Authority believes that the pillars of good
governance should not be confined to the Accounting Authority but should be the basis of all decisions made at all levels at the NCR.
The NCR strives to balance the pursuit and achievement of business objectives and compliance with the principles of good governance.
In determining good corporate governance and business practices, the Accounting Authority is guided by:
• Government protocol and corporate governance
• The Public Finance Management Act No 1 of 1999 (PFMA) and supporting National Treasury Regulations
Accounting authority
The Board of Directors which is appointed in terms of Section 19(1) of the NCA constitutes the NCR’s Accounting Authority for purposes of
the PFMA.
The NCA determines that the Cabinet Members responsible for Finance, Housing and Social Development may each appoint a member to the
Board. The Minister of Trade & Industry appoints the Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson as well as a further six members.
The Accounting Authority is responsible for guiding the strategic direction, which includes approving strategic plans, monitoring performance
against strategic objectives and determining policies and procedures that ensure the integrity of the NCR’s risk management and internal controls.
The Accounting Authority further ensures that the NCR implements and maintains financial records and systems as required by the PFMA and
that the NCR complies with all applicable legislation and regulations.
The members, both collectively and individually, have a right to obtain external independent professional advice on matters pertaining to the
NCR at the expense of the NCR.
Structure of the accounting authority
To assist in performing its functions, the accounting authority has three committees the Audit & Risk Management Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Policy & Strategy Committee.
Each committee has terms of reference that defines its responsibilities and has been approved by the accounting authority. The chairperson of
the accounting authority is chairperson of the remuneration committee.
Audit and risk management committee
The audit and risk management committee is responsible for:
• the effectiveness of the internal control systems;
• the effectiveness of internal audit;
• the risk areas of the entity’s operations to be covered in the scope of the internal and external audits;
• the adequacy, reliability and accuracy of the financial information provided to management and other users of such information;
• an accounting and auditing concerns identified as a result of internal and external audits;
• the entity’s compliance with legal and regulatory provisions; and
• the activities of the internal audit function, including its annual work programme, coordination with the external auditors, the reports of
significant investigations and the responses of management to specific recommendations; and
• where relevant, independence and objectivity of the external auditors
The committee is constituted in terms of Sections 76 (4)(d) and 77 of the PFMA and regulation 27.1 of Treasury Regulations. It consists solely
of non-executive members and is chaired by Ms Ramano, an independent person, who is not a member of the Accounting Authority.
The NCR Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer are permanent invitees.
The internal auditors and the Auditor General are invited to attend all meetings of the committee and have unrestricted access to the
chairperson and members of this committee.
The Audit and Risk Committee met five times during the year.

40

Table 13.
Names

12 May 2010

25 June 2010

23 July 2010

21 October 2010

17 February 2011

Tryphosa Ramano

P

P

P

P

P

Coceko Pakade

P

P

P

P

P

Chrsitine Glover

P

P

Resigned

Apology

Apology

Apology

Apology

Apology

Nkosizana Mashiya

Remuneration committee
The Remuneration Committee consists of non-executive members of the Accounting Authority and is chaired by Adv P Tlakula. It deals with
remuneration and benefits of NCR personnel, including the Chief Executive Officer and management.
Table 14
Names

22 June 2010

04 November 2010

Apology

P

Tim Store

P

P

Manie van Schalkwyk

P

P

Adv Pansy Tlakula

Policy and strategy committee
The Policy and Strategy Committee assists the Accounting Authority regarding the policy and strategic aspects of the duties and responsibilities
of the Accounting Authority as set out in Section 19 of the NCA.
The committee focuses on the duty of the Accounting Authority to guide the strategic development of the NCR (Section 19(4) (a) and oversees
regulatory functions.
The committee is chaired by Mr Tim Store. The nominated members for National Treasury and for the Department of Trade and Industry are
permanent invitees and act as full members of the committee at all meetings they attend. Details of committee members and meetings attended
appear in Table 15.
Table 15
Names

04 June 2010

29 July 2010

28 October 2010

04 March 2011

Tim Store

P

P

P

P

Apology

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

Manie van Schalkwyk
Mandla Maleka
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Report of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
for the year ended 31 March 2011

The Report of the Audit and Risk Management Committee was prepared in accordance with Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and 27.1.10(b) and
(c) for public entities issued in terms of the Public Finance Management Act (Act No.1 of 1999) (PFMA).
The National Credit Regulator (NCR) is listed as a national public entity in Schedule 3A of the PFMA.
The audit and risk management committee has met 5 times during the year under review. The composition of the committee and attendance
at meetings is set out below:
Name

12 May 2010

25 June 2010

Ms T Ramano
(chairperson)

P

P

Mr N Mashiya

23 July 2010

21 October 2010

17 February 2011

P

P

P

Apology

Apology

Apology

Apology

Apology

Ms C Glover
(appointed June 2008)

P

P

Resigned

Apology

Apology

Mr Coceko Pakade

P

P

P

P

P

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is a sub committee of the Accounting Authority of the NCR. The audit and risk management
committee operates in accordance with the terms of its charter which has been approved by the Accounting Authority. The overall objective
of the committee is to assist the NCR’s Accounting Authority to discharge its duties relating to the safeguarding of assets; the development and
maintenance of adequate systems and controls; assessing the going concern status; the review of auditing and accounting processes; the review
of financial information and preparation of annual financial statements.The committee has fulfilled its responsibilities in compliance with its terms
of reference.
Other persons who attended the Audit and Risk Management Committee meetings regularly include the internal auditors, representatives from
the Auditor-General, the Chief Executive Officer, the Risk Officer and the Chief Financial Officer.
Risk Management
Effective risk management is fundamental to the activities of the NCR.
The NCR seeks to achieve an appropriate balance between conformance and performance in our activities, and continue to build and enhance
the risk management capabilities that assist in delivering our mandate.
The essence of the NCR’s risk management is the protection of its reputation.
Responsibility and accountability for risk management resides at all levels within the NCR, from the Board down through the organisation to
each manager.
The assessment, evaluation and measurement of risk is an ongoing process that is integrated into the activities of the NCR. This process includes
identifying risks and taking corrective action where required.
The internal audit function provides an independent assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the overall risk management and reports
to the board through the audit committee.
The Auditor General has a statutory duty to report its independent opinion on the NCR’s financial statements.
The primary risk to which the NCR is exposed and which it manages is:
Operational risk
The risk of loss of reputation resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, consumers and systems or from external events.This includes
legal risk.
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for the year ended 31 March 2011 (continued)

Risk assessments are an integral part of the overall risk management process and cover the key components of identification, assessment and
management of risk. The NCR uses key risk indicators to monitor exposures to key risks identified in the risk assessment process.
Internal Audit Function
The Audit and Risk Management Committee is charged with overseeing the internal audit function.The role of the internal auditors is to provide
support to management and the Audit and Risk Management Committee in fulfilling their responsibilities.The internal audit function provides an
independent and objective evaluation of the NCR’s system of internal control and any significant risks brought to the attention of management
and the committee have been resolved. The internal audit function is outsourced to Sizwe Ntsaluba.
Financial Statements
The Audit and Risk Management Committee has reviewed and evaluated the financial statements of the NCR for the year ended 31 March
2011 and is satisfied that they comply with the requirements of the PFMA, and that the basis of preparation is in accordance with Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP). The going concern principle was adopted in the preparing the financial statements.
The committee, at its meeting of 17 May 2011, recommended the financial statements to the NCR’s Accounting Authority for approval.

T Ramano
Chairperson

N Motshegare
Acting Chief Executive Officer
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Accounting Authority’s Report
for the year ended 31 March 2011

This report is presented in terms of Treasury Regulation 28.1.1 of the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999). The Accounting
Authority for the National Credit Regulator is the Board, as appointed in terms of Section 19 of the National Credit Act and Section 49(1) and
(2)(a) of the PFMA.
1.

Nature of Business

The National Credit Regulator (NCR) derives its mandate from the National Credit Act, Act No. 34 of 2005 (the Act).The mandate of the NCR
is to effectively implement and enforce the Act as stipulated including the following:• Registration of credit providers, credit bureaux and debt counsellors;
• Educating and creating awareness on the protection which the Act offers;
• Receipt and investigation of complaints and ensuring that consumer rights are protected;
• Enforcement of the Act; and
• Research and dissemination of information relevant to the credit markets.
2.

Financial Overview

2.1

Financial Results
31 March
2011

31 March
2010

R

R

Total Income

80,548,212

77,997,113

Expenditure

78,507,667

66,166,553

Net surplus

2,040,545

11,830,560

Total Assets

83,844,362

80,639,649

Total Liabilities

32,004,089

30,839,921

2.2
Financial Performance
Funding received from the Department of Trade and Industry constituted 57.1% (2010: 56%) of income for the NCR. Fee income of R25,284,793
(2010: R25,738,703) is the next largest component representing 31.4% (2010: 34%) of income.
Personnel costs, being the largest expenditure item represents 46.9% (2010: 46%) of expenditure with professional fees of R14,428,091 (2010:
R13,323,808) being equal to 18% (2010: 20%). During the period under review the NCR acquired assets to the value of R3,424,561 (2010:
R2,431,657), consisting primarily of computer equipment, leasehold improvements and office equipment.
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3.

Members’ Fees

Fees paid for the year ended 31 March 2011
Name

Audit and Risk
Management
Committee

Board
R

R

Adv P Tlakula

36,120

M Maleka

15,257

M van Schalkwyk †
T Store
C Glover

Policy and
Strategy
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Total(Gross)

R

R

R

-

-

-

36,120

-

6,688

-

21,945

16,511

-

5,016

1,672

23,199

15,048

-

6,688

3,344

25,080

5,434

3,344

88,370

3,344

8,778

A Osman */S Ngxongo*
N Mashiya *
Z Ntuli*
C Pakade*
TOTAL

18,392

5,016

115,122

* : These members are public servants and do not qualify for members fees
† : This member has elected to have his fees paid to his employer
Fees paid for the year ended 31 March 2010

Name

Audit and Risk
Management
Committee

Board
R

R

Policy and
Strategy
Committee
R

Remuneration
Committee
R

Total
R

Adv P Tlakula

28,208

-

-

3,784

31,992

M Maleka

14,617

3,344

1,672

1,672

21,305

M van Schalkwyk †

14,212

-

8,360

1,672

24,244

T Store

14,212

-

6,688

3,344

24,244

C Glover

14,212

6,688

-

-

20,900

-

-

-

-

-

A Osman */S Ngxongo*
N Mashiya *

-

-

-

-

-

Z Ntuli*

-

-

-

-

-

C Pakade*

-

-

-

-

-

85,461

10,032

16,720

10,472

122,685

* : These members are public servants and do not qualify for members fees
† : This member has elected to have his fees paid to his employer
4.

Executive Management

The following staff members comprised the Executive Committee during the period under review, G Davel (Chief Executive Officer), N
Motshegare (Chief Operations Officer),TS Pather (Chief Financial Officer) and P Setou (Senior Manager Education and Strategy).G Davel’s term
of office came to an end on the 31 December 2010. N Motshegare has been appointed acting Chief Executive Officer in the interim. J Augustyn
and O Tongwane have been appointed to the executive committee from 1 January 2011. The prescribed disclosure of emoluments is reflected
in note 22.1 of the financial statements.
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5.

Materiality Framework

A materiality framework has been approved.
6.

Going Concern

The NCR is dependant on funding from the Department of Trade and Industry. At this stage there is no indication that in the next 12 months
funding from the DTI would cease.
7.

Events Subsequent to the Financial Position Date

The Accounting Authority (Board) is not aware of any matter or circumstance occurring between the balance sheet and the date of this report
that materially affects the performance of the NCR for the year ended 31 March 2011 or the financial position at that date.
8.

Address

The National Credit Regulator’s offices are situated at:127 – 15th Road
Randjiespark
Midrand
With the postal address:
PO Box 209
Halfway house
1685

Adv P Tlakula
Chairperson
31 May 2011
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the National Credit Regulator
For the year ended 31 March 2011

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Introduction
1. I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the National Credit Regulator, which comprise the statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2011, and the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets and cash flow statement for the year then
ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 53 to 75.
Accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial statements
2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with South
African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and in the manner required by the Public Finance
Management Act of South Africa , 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA) and the National Credit Act of South Africa ,2005 (Act No. 34 of 2005)
(NCA) and for such internal control as management determines necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor-General’s responsibility
3. As required by Section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996), Section 4 of the Public Audit
Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and Section 36(2) of the National Credit Act of South Africa, 2005 (Act No. 34 of
2005) (NCA) my responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.
4. I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and General Notice 1111 of 2010 issued in Government Gazette
33872 of 15 December 2010. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.
6. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
Opinion
7. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the National Credit Regulator as at 31
March 2011, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with South African Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999
(Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA).
REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
8. In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General notice 1111 of 2010, issued in Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010, I
include below my findings on the annual performance report as set out on pages 78 to 101 and material non-compliance with laws and
regulations applicable to the National Credit Regulator.
Predetermined objectives
9. No material findings to report.
Compliance with laws and regulations
10. No material findings to report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL
11. In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General notice 1111 of 2010, issued in Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010, I
considered internal control relevant to my audit, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control.
There are no significant deficiencies in internal control to report.

29 July 2011

Pretoria
28 July 2011
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Statement of Responsibility
for the year ended 31 March 2011
The Accounting Authority acknowledges that it is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial statements of
the National Credit Regulator. In order for the Accounting Authority to discharge these responsibilities, as well as those bestowed on it in terms
of the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999) and other applicable legislation, it has developed and maintains a system of internal
controls.
The Accounting Authority’s responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
The internal controls include a risk-based system of internal accounting and administrative controls designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded and that transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with generally accepted business
practices.These controls are implemented by trained personnel and are monitored by management with an independent oversight by the Audit
and Risk Management Committee and the Policy and Strategy Committee.
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP). They are based on appropriate
accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable assumptions and estimates.
The Accounting Authority believes that the National Credit Regulator will be a going concern in the year ahead. The going concern basis has
thus been adopted in preparing the financial statements.
The financial statements have been audited by the Auditor-General, who was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data
including minutes of meetings.
The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 were approved by the Accounting Authority on 31 May 2011 and are signed on
its behalf by:

_____________________
Adv P Tlakula
Chairperson

____________________
N Motshegare
Acting Chief Executive Officer
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Statement of Financial Performance
for the year ended 31 March 2011
31 March
2011

31 March
2010

R

R

Note
Revenue from exchange transactions

26,576,390

26,737,709

Fee revenue

2

26,225,594

26,528,209

Other revenue

3

350,796

209,500

49,407,100

46,313,505

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer payment - Operational activities

4

46,000,000

43,859,000

Government grants

4

3,386,836

2,354,209

Other revenue

5

20,264

100,296

78,507,667

66,166,553

Expenses
Operating expenses

6

24,954,887

21,458,789

Personnel expenses

6

36,791,009

30,200,860

Administrative expenses

6

16,754,810

14,175,780

Finance costs

7

6,961

331,124

Finance income

8

4,564,722

4,945,899

2,040,545

11,830,560

Net surplus for the year
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Note

31 March
2011

31 March
2010

R

R

ASSETS
Current assets

74,806,845

73,209,872

Cash and cash equivalents

9

74,246,930

73,019,953

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions

10

559,915

189,919

9,037,517

7,429,777

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

11

8,202,790

6,439,046

Intangible assets

12

834,727

990,731

83,844,362

80,639,649

32,004,089

30,813,825

Total assets
LIABILITES
Current liabilities
Amounts prepaid

13

11,497,774

9,446,270

Deferred annual fees

13

8,676,390

8,755,512

Deferred government grants

4

536,758

3,623,595

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

14

6,152,091

4,617,586

Provisions

15

4,458,495

3,598,449

Lease obligation

16

26,096

73,043

Operating lease liability

17

656,485

699,370

Non-current liabilities

26,096

Lease obligation

16

Total liabilities

-

26,096

32,004,089

30,839,921

51,840,273
83,844,362

49,799,728
80,639,649

Net assets
Accumulated surplus
Total net assets and liabilities
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Notes
Balance at 1 April 2009
Net surplus for the year
Balance at 31 March 2010
Net surplus for the year
Balance at 31 March 2011

55

Accumulated
surplus

Total

R

R

37,969,168

37,969,168

11,830,560

11,830,560

49,799,728

49,799,728

2,040,545

2,040,545

51,840,273

51,840,273

8. Financial Statements
Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Note

31 March 2011

31 March 2010

R

R

28,185,133

27,907,156

(40,421,244)

(35,205,400)

(33, 597,069)

(28,073,386)

(45,833,180)

(35,371,630)

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from applicants and registered entities
Cash paid to suppliers
Cash paid to employees

6

Cash absorbed by operations before transfers received
Transfers received

4

46,000,000

43,859,000

Cash generated from operations

19

166,820

8,487,370

Finance costs

7

Finance income

8

Net cash inflows from operating activities

(6,961)

(11,901)

4,564,722

4,945,899

4,724,581

13,421,368

Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment

11

(3,384,084)

(1,787,946)

Additions to intangible assets

12

(40,477)

(643,711)

(3,424,561)

(2,431,657)

Net cash outflows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Increase/ (Decrease) in lease liability
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

9

56

(73,043)

80,294

(73,043)

80,294

1,226,977

11,070,005

73,019,953

61,949,948

74,246,930

73,019,953

Summary of Accounting Policies
for the year ended 31 March 2011

1.

Significant accounting policies
The National Credit Regulator (NCR) is a National Public Entity as specified in Schedule 3A of the Public Finance Management Act
(PFMA), Act No. 1 of 1999 (as amended by Act 29 of 1999).
The principle accounting policies applied in the preparation and presentation of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

1.1

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practices
(GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board.
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the going concern principle and on an accrual basis with the measurement
base applied being the historical cost unless otherwise stated.
In applying accounting policies management is required to make various judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which may
affect the amounts of items recognised in the financial statements. Management is also required to make estimates of the effects of
uncertain future events which could affect the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities at the reporting date. Actual results in the
future could differ from estimates which may be material to the financial statements. Details of any significant judgements and estimates
are explained in the relevant policy where the impact on the financial statements may be material.

1.2

Standards and amendments to standards issued but not effective
The following standards and amendments to standards have been issued but are not effective.
Standard

Summary and impact

GRAP 18 – Segment
Reporting

This standard establishes principles for reporting Issued by the ASB – March 2005
financial information by segments.
Effective date - To be determined by
the Minister of
The impact on the financial results and disclosure Finance
is considered to be minimal.

Effective date

GRAP 21 – Impairment of
Non-cash-generating
Assets

This standard prescribes the procedures that the Issued by the ASB – March 2009
NCR applies to determine whether a non-cash Effective date –
generating asset is impaired and to ensure that 1 April 2012
impairment losses are recognised.
The impact on the financial results and disclosure
is considered to be minimal.

GRAP 23 – Revenue from
Non-exchange
transactions

This standard prescribes the requirements
for the financial reporting of revenue from
non-exchange (grants and transfer payments
transactions).

Issued by the ASB – February 2008
Effective date –
1 April 2012

The impact on the financial results and disclosure
is considered to be minimal.
GRAP 24 – Presentation of
Budget Information in the
Financial Statements

This standard requires a comparison of budget Issued by the ASB – November 2007
and actual amounts and an explanation for Effective date –
material differences.
1 April 2012
The impact on the financial results is considered
to be minimal. However the impact on disclosure
is significant.
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Standard

Summary and impact

Effective date

GRAP 25 - Employee
Benefits

The standard prescribes the accounting Issued by the ASB – November 2009
treatment and disclosure for employee Effective date - To be determined by
benefits.
the Minister of
Finance
The impact on the financial results and
disclosure is considered to be minimal.

GRAP 26 - Impairment of
Cash-generating Assets

This standard prescribes the procedures to Issued by the ASB – March 2009
determine whether a cash generating asset Effective date –
is impaired and to ensure that impairment 1 April 2012
losses are recognised.
The impact on the financial results and
disclosure is considered to be minimal.

GRAP 104 – Financial
Instruments

This standard establishes principles for Issued by the ASB – October 2009
recognising, measuring, presenting and Effective date - To be determined by
the Minister of
disclosing financial instruments.
Finance
The impact on the financial results and
disclosure is considered to be minimal.

*** Improvements to the
Standards of GRAP

Improvements are proposed to the
following standards of GRAP: GRAP 1- 4,
9,13,14,17,19 and 100 as part of the ASB’s
improvement project.

Proposed
effective date
01 April 2011

The impact on the financial results and
disclosure is considered to be minimal.
*** Standards affected by the Improvements Project of the ASB issued in an exposure
draft as ED 63 - Improvements to the Standards of GRAP
1.3

Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are presented using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the NCR
operates (functional currency). The functional currency of the NCR and the presentation currency is South African rand (ZAR) and all
amounts are stated in nearest rands (R).
(b) Transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

1.4

Borrowing costs
Section 66 of the PFMA prohibits the NCR from borrowing unless such borrowing has been effected through the Minister of Finance.
Partial exemption to this prohibition has been granted through practice note 5 of 2006 which allows the NCR to enter into certain
finance leases.
Borrowing costs incurred other than on qualifying assets are recognised as an expense in surplus or deficit in the period to which they
relate.
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1.5

Revenue from exchange transactions
Revenue comprises application fees, registration fees, branch fees and national loans register fees. Revenue is recognised when the right
to the revenue has been established and is recorded at the following dates:
Application fees
Date of registration/withdrawal/rejection
Registration fee
Recognised over a twelve-month period from date of registration
Branch fees
Date of registration
National loans register fees
Date of service delivery
Replacement certificate fees
Date of invoice
Finance income:
Finance income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate method.
Other revenue:
Other revenue is recognised on an accrual basis.

1.6

Leases
Operating leases
Leases that the NCR enters into as a lessee, and where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
underlying asset, are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged against revenue on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.
Finance leases
Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset are transferred to the NCR, are classified as
finance leases. Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower,
at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the Statement of Financial
Position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to the Statement
of Financial Performance. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the years in which they are incurred.

1.7

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Subsequent
costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated
with the item will flow to the NCR and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Maintenance and repairs, which neither materially
add to the value of assets nor appreciably prolong their useful lives, are expensed during the financial year in which they are incurred.
Leasehold improvements and equipment are depreciated over the period of the lease agreement.
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their estimated
residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Fixed asset class
Computer equipment
Furniture & fittings
Leasehold improvements
Machinery
Office equipment
Leasehold equipment
Security equipment

Average useful life
3-7 years
10 years
Remaining period of the lease
7 years
3-7 years
Remaining period of the lease
3-7 years
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The asset’s residual values, depreciation method and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end.
If any item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no service potential is expected from its use or
disposal, the gain or loss if any (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the Statement of Financial Performance in the year the asset is derecognised.
1.8

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the NCR has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, for which it is probable
that the NCR will be required to settle the obligation, and where a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the Statement
of Financial Position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where the effect of the time value
of money is material, the provision is discounted to the present value of the expected cash flows required to settle the obligation.

1.9

Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of material assets (PPE and intangible assets) are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment at each Statement of Financial Position date or when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss, if any, is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its
recoverable service amount.
If any indication exists, the recoverable service amount is estimated as the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value
in use.
In assessing its value in use, the expected future cash flows from the asset are discounted to its present value using a discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
service amount, however, not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or
amortisation) had no impairment been recognised in prior years.

1.10 Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Government grants
Government grants received for project purposes are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as deferred revenue upon
receipt when there is reasonable assurance that the NCR will be able to comply with the conditions attached to the grant.
The portion of the grant relating to projects that compensates the NCR for expenses incurred is recognised as revenue in the Statement
of Financial Performance on a systematic basis over the same period in which the expenses are incurred.
Transfer payments
Transfer payments for operational activities are recognised as revenue on receipt.
Where appropriate, the NCR will recognise an asset arising from a portion of the transfer when it gains control of resources that meet
the definition of an asset and satisfy the recognition criteria.
1.11 Intangible assets
Acquired computer software is initially recognised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
Amortisation commences when the asset is available for use. These costs are amortised on the straight line basis to their residual values
over their estimated useful lives.
Costs associated with maintaining acquired computer software programmes are recognised as an expense when incurred. Costs that are
directly associated with the development of identifiable and unique software, and that will probably generate service potential beyond
one year, are recognised as intangible assets.
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1.11 Intangible assets (continued)
The amortisation year, the amortisation method and the residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate at each financial year
end.
The annual amortisation rate is based on the following estimated useful lives.
Intangible assets

Average useful life

Computer software

5-7 years

An intangible asset may be derecognised either on disposal or when no future service potential is expected from its use or disposal.
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds,
if any, and the carrying amount of the asset. It is recognised in surplus or deficit when the asset is derecognised.
1.12 Related parties
As a consequence of the constitutional independence of the three spheres of government in South Africa, only entities within the
national sphere of government are considered to be related parties.
Key management is defined as those individuals with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities
of the NCR.
1.13 Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits
The cost of all short term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service.
Retirement benefits
The NCR provides retirement benefits for all its permanent employees through a defined contribution provident fund scheme which is
subject to the Pension Funds Act, no.24 of 1956 as amended. All the NCR’s permanent employees are covered by the provident fund.
NCR contributions to the fund are charged against revenue as and when they accrue.
1.14

Financial assets
The NCR classifies its financial assets as financial assets at amortised cost.
Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets at amortised cost have fixed or determinable payments and are initially recognised at fair value using trade date
accounting and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Financial assets
consisting of trade and receivables are only discounted when the effects of discounting are material and once the initial credit period
granted consistent with the terms used in the public sector either through established practices or legislation have elapsed.

1.14.1 Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment regularly. Financial assets are impaired when there is objective evidence that,
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
asset have been negatively impacted.
For financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

•
•
•

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
the probability that the issuer will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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For other financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets assessed not to be impaired on an individual basis are later assessed for
impairment on a collective basis.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of a financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets except for trade receivables,
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
When a trade receivable is considered to be uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in the Statement of financial performance.
1.14.2 Derecognition of financial assets
The NCR derecognises a financial asset (or where applicable part thereof) using trade date accounting only when:
• the right to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
• the NCR retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material
delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or
• the NCR has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.
1.15 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities which include accounts payable and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Accounts payable and other payables are only discounted when the effects of
discounting are material and once the initial credit period granted consistent with the terms used in the public sector either through
established practices or legislation have elapsed.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected
life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to their present value.
1.15.1 Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same customer on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original liability, and the
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance.
1.15.1 Offset of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position only when the NCR has a
legally enforceable right to set off recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
1.16

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks and investments in money market instruments, all of
which are available for use by the NCR unless otherwise stated.
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1. General information
The National Credit Regulator (NCR) is listed as a national public entity in Schedule 3A of the Public Finance Management Act, No.1
of 1999.
The NCR was established on the effective date of the National Credit Act, No 34 of 2005, being 1 June 2006. The attached financial
statements represent the results of operations of the NCR for the year ended 31 March 2011 with comparatives being for the year
ended 31 March 2010.
There are no instances of significant judgement other than those required by GRAP.

31 March
2011
R
2.

3.

Fee revenue
Application fees
Registration fees
Branch fees
National loans register fees
Replacement certificates

Other exchange revenue
Skills development levies recovered
Prescribed liabilities
Reimbursements
Proceeds from debt counselling exhibition
Proceeds from insurance claim
Proceeds from purchase of register of registrants
Proceeds from purchase of tender documents
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31 March
2010
R

248,000
19,926,035
5,024,408
940,801
86,350
26,225,594

306,500
19,840,596
5,547,007
789,506
44,600
26,528,209

207,273
13,177
65,000
29,576
770
35,000
350,796

17,283
13,116
11,205
55,000
112,896
209,500
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31 March
2011
R
4.
4.1

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer payment-operational activities
The DTI contributes to the operational activities of the NCR
while also providing funding for specific projects.
Transferred to the NCR

31 March
2010
R

46,000,000

43,859,000

4.2
DTI funded project
4.2.1 Debt counsellors
Balance brought forward at the beginning of the year
Transfer to Debt Counselling task team (4.2.3)
Recognised as revenue
Unspent funds at 31 March 2011

2,169,010
(50,000)
(1,834,716)
284,294

3,995,600
(1,500,000)
(326,590)
2,169,010

4.2.2 Debt Counselling support
Balance brought forward at the beginning of the year
Recognised as revenue
Unspent funds at 31 March 2011

303,056
(267,033)
36,023

1,802,045
(1,498,989)
303,056

4.2.3 Debt Counselling task team
Balance brought forward at the beginning of the year
Transferred from Debt counsellors (4.2.1)
Recognised as revenue
Unspent funds at 31 March 2011

1,151,529
50,000
(1,200,088)
1,441

1,500,000
(348,471)
1,151,529

-

180,159
(180,159)
-

300,000
(85,000)
215,000

-

536,758

3,623,595

20,264
20,264

100,296
100,296

4.3

4.4

5.

National register of credit agreements
Balance brought forward at the beginning of the year
Recognised as revenue
Unspent funds at 31 March 2011
Learnerships
Funding received
Recognised as revenue
Unspent funds at 31 March 2011

Other non-exchange revenue
Litigation cost award
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31 March
2011
R
6.

31 March
2010
R

Operating expenses, personnel expenses, administrative expenses
Operating expenses
Professional fees

24,954,887

21,458,789

14,428,091

13,323,808

Consumer education

2,394,452

2,417,400

Stakeholder communication

1,722,689

1,417,259

Debt relief programme

6,409,655

4,300,322

36,791,009

30,200,860

32,166,555

25,131,443

Contributions to retirement fund

2,847,918

2,348,620

Medical aid contributions

1,105,325

947,582

671,211

1,773,215

16,754,810

14,175,780

Personnel expenses
Salaries

Temporary staff
(On 20 April 2010, the NCR incurred expenditure of R60,595 on T-shirts for staff in
support of the National Team at the Soccer World Cup 2010)
Administrative expenses
Premises and equipment

4,360,991

3,948,201

Communication costs

2,537,210

1,627,209

Information technology

2,375,504

2,889,769

General expenses

3,376,129

2,764,871

Recruitment

896,531

310,131

Training

922,557

821,297

Other staff costs

616,972

406,196

Depreciation

1,472,498

1,237,085

Amortisation

196,418

171,021

1,143,311

785,464

- Interim audit

384,956

244,435

- Annual audit 2009/10

758,355

541,029

115,122

122,685

Operating lease payments (included in premises and equipment.)

2,325,744

2,332,203

Building

The surplus from operations before finance income is arrived at after taking the following
items into account:
Auditors’ remuneration (included in general expenses.)
- External audit

Board members’ fees - Non-executive (included in general expenses.)

1,429,352

1,427,515

Equipment

896,392

904,688

Non-current assets written-off (included in general expenses above)

147,905

229,072

Computer equipment

43,394

198,000

Furniture and fittings

89,547

26,436

7,509

3,588
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-

7,392

1,048

Office equipment
Computer software
Leasehold office equipment
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31 March
2011
R
7.

Finance costs

7.1

31 March
2010
R

6,961

331,124

Imputed finance costs

-

319,223

Effect of discounting on operating and administrative expenses

-

217,371

-

101,852

7.2

Effect of discounting on professional fees
Imputed finance costs arose as a result of accounting for the changes in the time value
of money that occurred after the terms commensurate with the public sector (30 days)
have elapsed and the payment date. The effective rate of 6.096% applied is based on the
average bond rate for the year.
Finance costs incurred on the lease obligation (Refer to note 16)

6,961

11,901

8.

Finance income
4,564,722

4,945,899

6,000

6,000

Current account

29,796

29,800

Salaries account

1,286

1,034

74,209,848

72,983,119

74,246,930

73,019,953

Interest earned on call accounts

9.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand

Call account

10.

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions
Accounts receivable

441,585

71,589

Other receivables

118,330
559,915

118,330
189,919

441,585

71,589

Accounts receivable past due but not impaired.
The age analysis of these receivables is as follows:
Less than 2 months
The fair values of trade and other receivables approximate the above values.
11.		

Property, plant and equipment
31 March 2011

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
Amount

R

R

R

Computer equipment

4,718,591

(1,810,144)

2,908,447

Furniture and fittings

2,480,285

(713,378)

1,766,907

Leasehold improvements

2,359,536

(884,871)

1,474,665

257,113

(154,115)

102,998

2,371,368

(679,486)

1,691,882

133,324

(110,432)

22,892

505,963
12,826,180

(270,964)
4,623,390

234,999
8,202,790

Machinery
Office equipment
Leasehold office equipment
Security equipment
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11.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
31 March 2011
Carrying
amount at
beginning
of year
Additions
R
R
Computer equipment
2,493,710
1,039,910
Furniture and fittings
1,531,420
527,219
Leasehold
improvements
764,174
968,028
Machinery
137,892
Office equipment
1,111,674
848,927
Leasehold office
equipment
96,511
Security equipment
303,665
6,439,046
3,384,084

31 March 2010

Non-current
assets written
off
R
(43,394)
(89,547)

Depreciation
R
(581,779)
(202,185)

Carrying
amount at
end of
year
R
2,908,447
1,766,907

(7,509)

(257,537)
(34,894)
(261,210)

1,474,665
102,998
1,691,882

(7,392)
(147,842)

(66,227)
(68,666)
(1,472,498)

22,892
234,999
8,202,790

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
Amount

R

R

R

Computer equipment

3,810,089

(1,316,379)

2,493,710

Furniture and fittings

2,087,815

(556,395)

1,531,420

Leasehold improvements

1,391,508

(627,334)

764,174

Machinery
Office equipment
Leasehold office equipment
Security equipment

257,113

(119,221)

137,892

1,556,624

(444,950)

1,111,674

143,760

(47,249)

96,511

505,962
9,752,871

(202,297)
(3,313,825)

303,665
6,439,046

31 March 2010
Carrying
amount at
beginning
of year
R
Computer
equipment
Furniture and
fittings
Leasehold
improvements
Machinery
Office equipment
Leasehold office
equipment
Security equipment

Additions
R

Non-current
assets
written off
R

Depreciation
R

Carrying
amount at
end of
year
R

2,300,955

883,232

(198,000)

(492,477)

2,493,710

1,504,213

242,816

(26,436)

(189,173)

1,531,420

816,619
172,786
960,020

153,588
341,251

(3,588)

(206,033)
(34,894)
(186,009)

764,174
137,892
1,111,674

14,691
346,925
6,116,209

143,760
23,299
1,787,946

(228,024)

(61,940)
(66,559)
(1,237,085)

96,511
303,665
6,439,046
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11.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The NCR has fully depreciated property, plant and equipment that are still in use.
Proceeds from insurance claim (Included in other exchange revenue. Refer to note 3)

12.

31 March
2011
R
5,569

31 March
2010
R
5,569

29,576

112,896

Intangible assets
31 March 2011
Cost
R
Computer software

Computer software

Carrying
amount at
beginning
of year
R
990,731
990,731

Additions
R
40,477
40,477

Amortisation
R

Carrying
amount
R

1,641,712

(806,985)

834,727

1,641,712

(806,985)

834,727

Non-current
assets
written off
R
(63)
(63)

Amortisation
R
(196,418 )
(196,418 )

Carrying
amount at
end of
year
R
834,727
834,727

31 March 2010
Cost
R
Computer software

Computer software

Carrying
amount at
beginning
of year
R
519,089
519,089

Additions
R
643,711
643,711

The NCR has fully depreciated intangible assets that are still in use.
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Amortisation
R

Carrying
amount
R

1,603,775

(613,044 )

990,731

1,603,775

(613,044 )

990,731

Non-current
assets written
off
R
(1,048)
(1,048)

Amortisation
R
(171,021)
(171,021)

Carrying
amount at
end of
year
R
990,731
990,731

31 March
2011
R
5,370

31 March
2010
R
5,433

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2011 (continued)

31 March
2011
R
13.

Amounts prepaid and deferred annual fees
Amounts prepaid
Amounts prepaid represent fees received in respect of applicants awaiting registration
and fees received in advance from registrants renewing their registration.

11,497,774

9,446,270

8,676,390

8,755,512

4,045,426
1,863,389
135,539
107,737
6,152,091

2,931,806
1,401,954
135,539
148,287
4,617,586

2,691,000
(2,019,230)
(321,757)
2,947,042
3,297,055

1,640,000
(775,489)
(864,511)
2,691,000
2,691,000

907,449
(3,949,552)
(459,916)
4663,459
1,161,440
4,458,495

624,923
(2,977,421)
(395,037)
3,654,984
907,449
3,598,449

Lease obligation

26,096

99,139

Less: Current portion

26,096

73,043

-

26,096

Deferred annual fees
Deferred annual fees represent fees received from applicants where the registration
period falls over into the next financial period.
14.

31 March
2010
R

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions
Trade payables
Accruals
International conference account
Refunds due to lenders
The majority of trade payables are due and payable within 30 days from the reporting
date. The fair values of trade and other payables approximate the above values.

15.

Provisions
Provision for legal fees
Balance at the beginning of year
Legal fees paid
Utilised/reversed during the year
Provision made for the year
Balance at end of the year
The NCR is involved in ongoing litigation which is payable within the next 6 to
12 months.
Provision for bonuses
Balance at the beginning of year
Bonuses paid
Utilised/reversed during the year
Provision made for the year
Balance at end of the year
Bonuses are performance based and subject to evaluation with the timing being
certain but the amount not.

16.

Leases
Interest bearing liabilities

This liability represents a capitalised finance lease agreement secured over the
leased office equipment with a net carrying amount of R22,892. This liability
bears interest at prime prevailing on the date of inception of the contract
(10.5%) and is repayable in monthly instalments not exceeding R6,667 per
month. Interest incurred on this liability amounts to R6,961 (2010: R11,901)
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Reconciliation
Payable
within twelve
months
R
Leased office equipment
Future minimum lease payments
Finance costs
Present value of minimum lease payments

26,668
(572)
26,096

Payable
within two to
five years
R

Payable
thereafter

Total

R

R

-

-

31 March
2010
R

31 March
2011
R
17.

Operating lease liability
Property

488,741

Equipment

112,014

51,150

55,730

109,310

656,485

699,370

-

2,700,000

Billboard

18.

26,668
(572)
26,096

USAID
USAID contributed towards specific research and development projects. This grant is
paid directly to the service providers in respect of the work performed on different
projects, and the agreements for service delivery are directly between Chemonics (a
contractor who administers the funding on behalf of USAID) and the various service
providers.The grant is thus not reflected in the Statement of Financial Performance or on
the Statement of Financial Position.
Funding on nominated projects
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31 March
2010
R

31 March
2011
R
19. Reconciliation of surplus to cash generated from operations
Surplus for the year

2,040,545

11,830,560

Depreciation

1,472,498

1,237,085

Amortisation

196,418

171,021

Increase/(Decrease) in provisions

860,046

1,333,526

(Decrease)/Increase in deferred operating lease costs

(42,885)

96,400

Increase /(Decrease) in accruals

461,435

(83,573)

Adjustments for:

Impairment loss
Non-current assets written off

-

-

147,905

229,072

Finance costs

6,961

Finance income

11,901

(4,564,722)
578,201

(4,945,899)
9,880,093

Adjustments for working capital changes:
Increase/( Decrease) in trade and other receivables

(369,997)

Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables

1,073,070

Increase in amounts prepaid by applicants

2,051,504

65,486

(Decrease)/Increase in deferred annual fees

(79,122)

Decrease in deferred funding from the DTI

(3,086,836)
166,820

20.
Commitments
20.1 Lease commitments in respect of operating lease agreements:
Payable
Payable
within twelve
within two to
months
five years
R
R
Building
1,567,523
2,383,147
Equipment
204,040
224,444
Billboard
431,185
661,232
2,202,748
3,268,823

94,920
(497,472)
1,298,552
(2,354,209)
8,487,370

Payable
Thereafter

Total

R
-

R
3,950,670
428,484
1,092,417
5,471,571

Operating lease commitments consist of leases for the office building, billboard and various items of office equipment. The building and billboard
rental contracts escalate at 6,5 % and 7% per annum respectively on the lease anniversary and both expire on 31 August 2013. The equipment
leases have duration of 5 years with no option of renewal. One item of equipment contained an escalation clause of 15% per annum.
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20.

Commitments (continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2011, R1,429,352 (2010:1,427,515) was recognised as an expense in the surplus for the year in respect
of the current building operating lease, whilst R896,392 (2010: R904,688) was expensed for the office equipment and billboard leases.
The operating lease costs have been straight-lined over the period of the lease and a deferred operating lease expense has been raised.
The deferral will amount to nil at the end of the lease term.

21.

Financial instruments
The NCR’s financial instruments consist primarily of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other payables.
Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)
Liabilities
Trade liabilities at amortised cost

31 March
2011
R
74,806,845
74,806,845
4,288,702
4,288,702

31 March
2010
R
73,209,82
73,209,872
3,215,632
3,215,632

Financial risk management objectives
The NCR’s Finance function provides services to the organisation, and monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations
of the NCR, through analysing the organisation’s degree and magnitude of risks. In the ordinary course of business, the NCR is exposed
to a number of risks as described below.
Credit risk
Credit risk represents the potential loss to the NCR as a result of unexpected defaults or unexpected deterioration in the credit
worthiness of counterparties. The NCR’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its receivables. However, this risk is minimal as the NCR
only registers applicants when payment has been received. Typically, applicants pay up-front in respect of registration, so annual fees due
at any time are limited, as these are received in advance. Revenue is accrued as described in the applicable accounting policy.The carrying
amount of trade receivables represents the NCR’s maximum exposure to credit risk.
With regard to credit risk arising from the other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, the NCR’s exposure arises
from a potential default of the counterparty where credit rating is constantly monitored, with a maximum exposure (R74,246,930) to
the carrying amount of these instruments. The institution in which funds have been placed is monitored on a quarterly basis to assess
any potential risks. Cash and cash equivalents are only placed with banking institutions with an AA credit rating.
Market risk
Interest rate risk
This is mainly attributable to the NCR’s exposure to interest rates on its cash and cash equivalents.
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to cash held with the bank on call and in the current
account at the reporting date. A 50 (2010: 50) basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the potential impact of the change in interest rates.
If interest rates had been on average 50 basis points higher or lower ( 2010: 50 basis points) and all other variables were held constant,
the NCR’s:
• Surplus for the year ended 31 March 2011 would decrease or increase by R22,824 (2010: decrease or increase by R 24,730)
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21.

Financial instruments (continued)
The NCR’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased primarily as a result of a decreasing interest rate environment.
Exposure to interest rate risk is set out below:
Class of Financial instrument

Carrying Value
31 March
31 March
2011
2010
R
R
74,246,930
73,019,953
74,246,930
73,019,953

Cash and Cash equivalents
Net exposure

Liquidity risk
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the NCR’s cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flow.
The table below analyses the NCR’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the Statement
of Financial Position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Contractual undiscounted liabilities
31 March 2011
Trade and other payables
Finance lease liabilities
Total contractual liabilities
31 March 2010
Trade and other payables
Finance lease liabilities
Total contractual liabilities

Payable in
less than 3
months
R

Payable in
3-12 months
R

Total
carrying
value
R

Payable
after 1 year
R

4,288,702
19,486
4,308,188

6,610
6,610

-

4,288,702
26,096
4,314,798

3,215,632
11,650
3,227,282

61,393
61,393

26,096
26,096

3,215,632
99,139
3,314,771

Other risks
Due to the nature and extent of the NCR’s financial instruments, the NCR is not unduly exposed to price risks or other market risks.
The NCR does not have any foreign accounts receivable or payable, or derivative market instruments.
Fair values
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values.
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22.

Related parties
Related party transactions are entered into in the normal course of business, under terms that are no more favourable than those
arranged with third parties;
Material
transactions
Balance
See note 22.1
See Accounting
Authority’s report

Relationship
Contractual

Board members

Contractual

Department of Trade
and Industry
ITC and Experian
Telkom Ltd
Unemployment
Insurance Fund
Compensation
Commissioner

National department in
national sphere of government Transfer payment received
Credit bureaux
National loan register fees
Public entity in National sphere Rental and telephone usage

Bank Seta

22.1

Nature of the
transaction

Related party
Key management

-

46,000,000
940,801
1,360,814

141,585
-

Public entity in National sphere

137,398

-

Public entity in National sphere Workmens compensation
Skills development levy
Public entity in National sphere Learnerships

38,222
330,460
85,000

215,000

Key management personnel compensation is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2011
Provident
Travel
Name
Salary
fund
allowance
contributions
R
R
R
G Davel1
1,250,460
138,936
911,430
113,262
110,263
N Motshegare2
TS Pather
883,203
110,142
110,681
P Setou
813,783
97,092
78,762
216,000
24,000
J Augustyn3
188,097
21,900
9,000
O Tongoane3
308,706
4,262,973
505,332

Performance
bonus
R
337,589
204,737
136,207
161,634
840,167

Leave
commutation
paid
R
231,158
231,158

Acting
Allowance
R
60,644
60,644

Total
R
1,958,143
1,400,336
1,240,233
1,151,271
240,000
218,997
6,208,980

For the year ended 31 March 2010
Name

G Davel
N Motshegare
TS Pather
P Setou

1
2
3

Salary
R
1,483,386
828,900
784,425
717,368
3,814,079

Provident
fund
contributions
R
168,156
101,433
99,159
86,374
455,122

For the 9 months ended 31 December 2010
Acting allowance for 2 months ended 31 March 2011
For the 3 months ended 31 March 2011
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Travel
allowance

Performance
bonus

R

R

33,679
85,693
109,782
76,855
306,009

316,391
160,310
186,571
158,245
821,517

Total
R
2,001,612
1,176,336
1,179,937
1,038,842
5,396,727
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23.

Reconciliation of budget surplus in the Statement of Financial Performance
31 March 2011
R
2,040,545

Net surplus per Statement of Financial Performance
Adjusted for:
Depreciation
Amortisation
Non-current assets written off
Increases in provisions
Budgeted capital expenditure
Budgeted project expenditure

1,472,498
196,418
147,905
860,046
(4,100,000)
(11,000,000)

Variances compared to approved budget
Revenue variances
Revenue from exchange transactions
Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Finance income
Utilisation of surpluses

10,382,588
18,624,899
(709,535)
(3,490,100)
235,278
22,589,256

Expenditure variances
Operating expenditure
Personnel expenditure
Administrative expenses

8,242,311
(931,525)
7,080,511
2,093,325

Net surplus per approved budget

-
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Abbreviations applied:
DTI – Department of Trade and Industry
NCR – National Credit Regulator
GRAP – Generally Recognised Accepted Accounting Practice
IAS – International Accounting Standards
IFRS – International Financial Reporting Standards
IFRIC – International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
PFMA – Public Finance Management Act
ASB- Accounting Standards Board
IASB – International Accounting Standards Board
IPSAS – International Public Sector Accounting Standards
IGRAP – Interpretations of the Standards of Generally Recognised Accepted Accounting Practice
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Fee Category
(Cat):
1-4: Total principal debt
is =/> R100m
5-7: Total principal debt
is <R100m

2. Quarterly
Annual
Compliance
Monitoring
conducted on
registrants

1. Turnaround
times to register
maintained

Activity
1.1 Monthly reports
indicating number
of credit providers
who have accepted
condition; paid fees;
and registered in
the same period.

Performance
Indicators

2.1 Credit providers in
fee Categories 1 to
4 to timely submit
quarterly statistical
returns.
Minimum requirements:
*100% of fee cat 1 to 2;
*80% of fee cat. 3 to 4;
Due Dates: 15th May;
15th August; 15th
November; 15th
February

2.1 A report indicating
% age of submission
received on due
dates; captured
and analysed from
category 1 to 4.

1.2 Monthly Reports to
1.2 Interventions to
MRCC
facilitate registration
of debt counsellors
in major towns
(source: Wikipedia)
where there were
none registered:
interventions in 40%
of areas where there
was none registered.

1.1 The registration
process is to be
finalised within 2
weeks of receipt of
accepted conditions
of registration and
payment of fees

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011
Quarterly
Milestones

Actual
Performance
Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved

Cat 3 & 4: 84%

% of submission received Cat 1 & 2: 94%
on due dates.

Exceeded

Cat 1 & 2:
Not Achieved
Delays from credit
providers due to
changes in personnel
dealing with returns

1.2 Interventions in 10% For this period, no Not Achieved
of areas that did not debt counsellors were No applications received
meet targets.
registered from these from major towns.
major towns.

90% of Registration 97% registered within an Exceeded
target to be met
average turnaround time
of 4 days.

ACTIVITY:
REGISTRATION AND COMPLIANCE MONITORING
RESPONSIBLE: ABEL TSHIMOLE

education
in major

Focused interventions
through workshops

Targeted
campaigns
towns.

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

Key Performance Measures and Indicators

79

Activity

30% of Debt
Counsellors timely
submitted Form 42 from
3rd quarter

Market conduct study/
52 analysis were
analysis completed for
completed for cat 1
10 cat 1-4 and 25 for cat to 4 .
5-7 per quarter.
None for cat 5 to 7.

1.3 30% of Active Debt 2.3 % of Debt
Counsellors who
Counsellors timely
submitted Form 42
submitted Form
by due dates.
42 returns on due
dates, for validation
purposes: 15 May; 15
Aug; 15 Nov; 15 Feb.

2.4 Market conduct 2.3 Report indicating the
number, list of credit
study
providers surveyed
To complete in at
and issues covered,
least 40 cat 1- 4
presented to the
credit providers
MRCC and MECC;
and 100 of cat
5 – 7(banks,
retailers, small credit
providers and motor
vehicle financers).
Category 5 -7 to be
dependent on level
on non-compliance.

13% of debt counsellors
submitted Form 42

10 out of 11 submitted.

% credit bureaux
submitted by due dates

2.2 % of Credit Bureaux
submitted Form 44
by due dates

1.2 All Credit Bureaux
to submit form 44
returns by the due
dates: 15 May; 15
Aug; 15 Nov; 15 Feb

Actual
Performance
Cat 5 to 7: 37%

Quarterly
Milestones

2.1.2 %age of submission
received by 15th
February.

Performance
Indicators

2.1.2 Credit providers
in fee categories
5 to 7 to submit
annual statistical
returns. Minimum
requirements:
*40% submission
To be received by 15th
February.

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

Enforcement action to
be considered.

More interaction
with debt counsellors
through workshops,
guidelines, use of
other stakeholders like
DCASA, NDMA.

Not Achieved
Poor quality submissions
from one credit bureau.

Not Achieved
Non submissions and
lack of understanding of
requirements.

Not Achieved

Exceeded

More targeted
interventions through
workshops.

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

Not Achieved
Non-submissions

Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved

Activity

Performance
Indicators

Quarterly
Milestones

2.6 % of reports
reflecting issues of
non-compliance
from credit
providers in the
fee category 1 to
4, presented to the
MRCC and MECC
2.7 Monthly
Management
Accounts reflecting
amounts due and
paid per each
fee category, and
variance report.
2.8 % of reports from
credit providers on
non-compliance
issues presented
to the MRCC and
MECC.

2.6 Assurance
engagement
Reports from 80%
of credit providers
required by statute
to be audited, in fee
categories 1 to 4, to
be timely submitted
and analysed;

2.7 The target of R21m
in terms of renewal
of fees to be paid;

2.8 Timely submission
and analysis of
annual compliance
reports and annual
financial statements
from 60% of credit
providers in fee
categories 1 to 4
and 20% of credit
providers in fee
categories 5 to 7;
with focus on noncompliance issues.
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Annual reports to
MRCC and MECC

Quarterly reports
submitted to MRCC

Annual report on issues
of non-compliance

2.5 Language
2.4 Number and size of
20% proposals approved
policy proposals
credit providers who per quarter for cat. 1-4 ;
to be received and
submitted required
12.5% for cat 5-7
approved for 80% of
proposals, together
credit providers in
with % of proposals
fee categories 1 to 4;
submitted to each
and 50% of credit
fee category group.
providers for fee
categories 5 to 7;

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

Not achieved
Non submissions

Exceeded

Exceeded

No annual compliance
Not achieved
reports submitted as yet. Submission date varied
as a result of the BPR.

• Annual financial
statements (AFS)
received from 66
(58%) Cat 1 to 4
credit providers.
• 341 (8.5%) received
from Cat 5-7 credit
providers.

For this period,
R21.145m received
against a target of R21m.

•

86% reports
submitted
No issues of noncompliance were
identified.

Exceeded

1438 (>50%) proposals
approved for Cat 5 to 7.

•

Exceeded

Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved

40 (>80%) proposals
approved for fee
categories 1 to 4.

Actual
Performance

Submission date is within
6 months of effective
date 1 January 2011.

Focused interventions in
terms of workshops.

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward
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3. Undertake
customer
service
evaluation to
improve service
to applicants,
registrants
and other
stakeholders

Activity

Reports on quality of
service provided

Bi-Annual reports to
MRCC

Reports to MRCC

2.9 Timely submission of 2.9 % of reports from
Synoptic reports by
insurers received
insurers (form 45)
quarterly on due
dates.

3. Bi-Annual Survey
results to be
reported to the
MRCC indicating
performance around
professionalism,
telephone etiquette,
customer service,
product knowledge,
and timely response
to customer
queries: Complaints
department to
conduct 2 exercises,
from 30 calls.

Quarterly
Milestones

Performance
Indicators

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

Bi-Annual Reports
submitted

28 (93%) submissions
received.

Actual
Performance

Achieved

Achieved

Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

Turn- around times to
resolve
complaints

1. Effective
Complaints
resolution
through:
• Rapid response
to high priority
complaints

Activity

Type of Activity:
RESPONSIBLE:

1.2 50% resolved within
30 days; 40% within
60 days; 10% within
90 days.

1.1 Intervention:
Within one (1)
week,

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

Complaints
resolved within the
turn-around times

1.1 Relevant reports
submitted to COO/
CEO, in terms of
the policy on high
priority complaints;

Performance
Indicators

COMPLAINTS & REDRESS
obed tongoane

Quarterly Reports to
MECC

1.1 Quarterly Reports
to MECC

Quarterly
Milestones

2347 complaints were
logged:
37.75% complaints
resolved within 30 days;
28.16% complaints
resolved within 60 days;
17% was resolved within
90 days and rhe balance
over 90 days

Five high priority
complaints received
during this financial year
and interventions were
within 3 days.

Actual
Performance

Not achieved
Resolution rates affected
by complexity of
complaints relating to
one large credit provider.

Exceeded

Targets Far
Exceeded/Not
Achieved

Capacity to be increased.
Where applicable,
complaints over 90 days
have been referred to
Investigations.

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward
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Offering
Quality advice
to consumers

4. Undertake customer
service evaluation to
improve service to
registrants

3.

2. Effective
cooperation
with ombuds
schemes &
provincial
consumer
affairs offices

Activity

Evaluation Report

Mitel Report

Quarterly Report
presented to MRCC.

3.2

3.2 Service evaluation

Quarterly Survey
results reported to be
the MRCC indicating
performance around
professionalism,
telephone etiquette,
customer service,
product knowledge,
and timely response
to customer queries:
Complaints department
to conduct 2 exercises,
from 30 calls.

3.1

3.1 Call drop of less
than 15%

2.3 Minutes of the
meetings/reports

2.2 Signed MOAs;

2.2 2 Memorandum
of Agreements
(MOAs) signed with
Ombud schemes;

2.3 Two meetings
per quarter with
individual Ombud
schemes.

2.1 Minutes of the
meetings/evaluation
reports;

Performance
Indicators

2.1 Quarterly
meetings with
forum of Ombuds
& provinces;
workshops with
provinces;

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

Quarterly Report
presented to MRCC.

Quarterly reports to
MECC

Quarterly reports to
MECC

Quarterly reports to
MECC

Quarterly
Milestones

The Registrations
Department’s evaluation
has been done and the
report is available

The call centre
evaluation was done.
The report is available

80734 were offered; call
drop = 7.7%.

11 Meetings were held
during the period.

MOA in the process of
being drafted

The South Africa
Social Security Agency
(SASSA), SAPS, KZN,
Free State, Eastern Cape,
Mpumalanga, Western
Cape, Northern Cape,
and North West
Provincial Consumer
Affairs Offices.

Meetings and training
sessions with the
following stakeholders
took place during the
period:

Actual
Performance

Achieved

Achieved

Exceeded

Exceeded

Not achieved
Drafting of MOA took
longer than expected

Achieved

Targets Far
Exceeded/Not
Achieved

Draft MOA to be
finalised in the new year.

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

5. Research on
effectiveness of
Alternative Dispute
Resolution (ADR)
Agents

Activity

Conduct research
to monitor trends in
the market on the
effectiveness of ADR
agents and present
the findings with
recommendations to
MECC.

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011
Quarterly
Milestones
Report with
recommendations
presented to MECC

Performance
Indicators
Report with
recommendations
presented to MECC
A service provider has
been appointed and will
commence duty soon.

Actual
Performance

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward
ADR Research project:
Contract development
has commenced and an
orientation on the NCR
will be hosted for the
research house in April
2011 to initiate the ADR
research project.

Targets Far
Exceeded/Not
Achieved
Not achieved
The tender had to
be re-advertised as a
suitable service provider
could not be identified
in the first round.

Key Performance Measures and Indicators
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Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

1.2 51 cases on credit
1.2 70% (or 35.9 cases)
of cases concluded
providers in the fee
and necessary
categories 5 to 7
and debt counsellors
steps taken.

1.1 60% (or 9 cases)
of cases concluded
and an investigation
report is submitted,
reviewed and
necessary steps
taken (investigations
signed off and
referred to
prosecutions)

Performance
Indicators

INVESTIGATION AND ENFORCEMENT
JAN AUGUSTYN

1. Conduct &
1.1 15 cases on credit
conclude
providers in the
investigations
fee categories
on entities
1 to 4 (banks,
registered with
retailers, other
the NCR or
credit providers),
non-registrants
credit bureaux,
that need to
or on generally
comply with the
complicated abusive
NCA.
practices;

Activity

TYPE OF ACTIVITY:
RESPONSIBLE:		

Progress report
submitted to MECC

Quarterly
Milestones

1.2 Thirty Three (33) or
65% investigations
were concluded.

1.1 Ten (10) or 67%
investigations were
concluded.

Actual
Performance:

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

Not achieved
To re-prioritise cases
The inspectors have
been involved in
enforcement action
relating to the large
investigations (Cat 1 – 4)
above .

Exceeded

Targets Far
Exceeded/Not
Achieved

2. Visible
enforcement
against high
profile abusive
practices
High Profile:
with a potentially
significant monetary
loss (min. R100
000); involving large
agreements (mortgages.
Min. R 100 000);
in which consumers are
likely to lose immovable
property; where
consumers may lose a
significant asset (house,
furniture, vehicle);
wherein at least 1000
consumers are affected;
that involve right of setoff; that have a potential
reputational risk to the
NCR (key stakeholders,
systematic / institutional
non-compliance);

Activity

2 x High profile
cases where in excess
of 500 consumers are
affected or
large financial
prejudice has occurred

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011
2.1 Increase in media
coverage; and
significant impact on
consumers

Performance
Indicators
Progress reports
submitted to MECC

Quarterly
Milestones

86
The above cases
have received media
coverage.

Compliance
Notice:
A compliance notice
was issued against an
unregistered credit
provider.
The NCR has thus
far received proof
that interim payments
totalling an amount
of R5.5m have been
made to 179 affected
consumers.

• 3 large credit
providers including
banks
• Debt Monitoring SA
(DMSA) vs NCR

The following high
profile cases were
conducted in the year:

Actual
Performance:
Exceeded

Targets Far
Exceeded/Not
Achieved

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward
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8

priority issues

3. Effective
enforcement
in priority
issues:
Significant
consumer loss e.g.
housing; vehicles;
Debt counselling;
fraudulent practices;
Advertising
and marketing
practices; Preagreement quotes
and disclosure;
Interest & fees
limitations; Credit
Life insurance; Pawn
broking

Activity

At least 60% (of the 66
cases) of investigations
must be conducted in
these areas.

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

• Improved compliance
• Significant exposure
of practices

There must be:

Performance
Indicators
15% investigations
conducted per quarter:
reports to MECC

Quarterly
Milestones

Targets Far
Exceeded/Not
Achieved

Formal written
undertakings received;
registrations cancelled
and refunds made to
consumers.

Improved
compliance:

Pre-agreement quotes
and disclosure; Interest
& fees limitations;
Credit Life Insurance;
Fraudulent practices;
Debt Counselling.

63% of the investigations Exceeded
were conducted in these
priority issues:

Actual
Performance:

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

4. Enforcement
action against
non-compliance
with the NCA

Activity

Visible enforcement
action through
compliance notices,
letters of undertakings,
instructional letters and
referrals to the Tribunal
and/or courts in 40
cases per annum. Not
limited to investigations
in the present financial
year.

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011
Progress reports
submitted to MECC

There must be:

• Significant exposure
of practices

• Improved compliance

Quarterly
Milestones

Performance
Indicators

88
Improved
compliance in 62
cases + media
coverage
Successful in high court
cases, referrals to the
Tribunal; cancelled
registration; written
undertakings received;
orders given by the
Tribunal.
There was media
exposure and exposure
of practices in most of
the above cases.

SAPS
3 criminal cases were
referred to the police.

High Court Appeal:
Twelve (12) matters
were referred
to the High Court

Tribunal matters:
Ten (10) matters
referred to the Tribunal.

Instructional
letters:
Sixteen (16)
instructional letters were
sent during the period.

Visible enforcement
action in >40 cases
Compliance
notices:
Compliance notices are
published. The notices
reflect areas of noncompliance.
Twelve (12) compliance
notices were issued to 6
debt counsellors and 6
credit providers.

Actual
Performance:
Exceeded

Targets Far
Exceeded/Not
Achieved

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

Key Performance Measures and Indicators

89

5. Turn-around
times to
investigate
cases

Activity

Turn around times to
investigate:
- large cases (cat. 1-4),
credit bureaux and
generally complicated
abusive practices = 6
months;
- small cases (cat. 5-7)
and debt counsellors
= 3 months

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011
Reports presented to
the MECC

Performance
Indicators
Progress reports
submitted to MECC

Quarterly
Milestones
Achieved

Not Achieved
The inspectors have
been involved in
enforcement action
which has impacted
on their time to
conduct and complete
investigations.

33 small investigations
concluded within the
turn-around time.

Targets Far
Exceeded/Not
Achieved

10 large investigations
concluded within the
turn-around time.

Actual
Performance:

Regular meetings are
held with the inspectors
and cases are prioritized.

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

1. Increase public
awareness
on protective
measures
contained in
the NCA

Activity

Impact Assessment to
be conducted at the end
of the year

- E- Boards
- News clippings
- PR agency records

1.2 – R75 million
Advertising Value
Equivalent (AVE);
- 200 radio interviews;
- 45 TV interviews;

1.3 Increase awareness
by 15%

- Evaluation forms
- Attendance register
- Monthly reports
- Annual impact study
reflecting improved
awareness.

1.1 350 NCA
workshops to be
attended by 25 000
participants:
- consumers
- credit providers
- other stakeholders

Performance
Indicators

Quarterly progress
reports

The assessment
commenced in March
2011.

R 120.8m
421 Radio Interviews
99 TV Interviews

Not achieved
Researchers had
difficultly in getting input
from some primary
stakeholders.

Exceeded
Exceeded
Exceeded

Exceeded

92 849 participants

6250/ quarter
participants

quarterly targets
- AVE: R 18.75 million
- Radio: 50
- TV: 12

Exceeded

Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved

445 workshops

Actual
Performance

87 workshops/quarter

Quarterly
Milestones

EDUCATION, COMMUNICATION & DEBT COUNSELLING
PETER SETOU

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

TYPE OF ACTIVITY:		
RESPONSIBLE MANAGER:

Final report to be
submitted in May 2011.

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

Key Performance Measures and Indicators
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3. Effective
implementation
of Payment
Distribution
Agencies

2. Support the
implementation
of debt
counselling
through:
- ongoing training
- provision of support
and,- monitoring of
debt counsellors

Activity

Four (4) meetings with
PDAs

2.3. Monitoring visits
to be conducted
to 250 debt
counsellors;

2.2. Support to be
provided to 600
debt counsellors;
Support ( Technical
enquiries/ questions
by debt counsellors
on debt counselling
issues)

2.1. 450 debt counsellors
trained;

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

appointed PDA

- audit report for each

meetings

- Minutes of the

-

- one audit report /
quarter

- one meeting per
quarter

- 63 debt counsellors
visited/quarter

- support provided to
150 debt counsellors

- monthly reports
indicating a list of debt
counsellors who were
supported, date when
support was provided
and nature of support
individual reports and
letters sent to debt
counsellors

- 113 debt counsellors
trained

Quarterly
Milestones

- attendance register
- training report

Performance
Indicators

Quarterly audits were
conducted for four
registered PDAs.

8 different meeting were
held with PDAs

609 Monitoring visits.

Support provided to
276 debt counsellors.

186 Debt Counsellors
were trained

Actual
Performance

Achieved

Exceeded

Exceeded

Not achieved
Insufficient service
providers.

Not achieved
Insufficient service
providers.

Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved
New service provider
appointed

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

4. Facilitate
resolution of
uncertainty on
court processes
and fees

Activity
- increase in the
number of debt
counselling cases
going through the
courts
- Correspondence
between NCR and
DTI on regulations

4.2 To support DTI with
the development
and amendment of
the regulations and
the Act.

Performance
Indicators

4.1 Appeal regarding
Declarator to be
finalised and follow
up steps taken;

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011
Appeal was heard on
21 February 2011,
judgement was handed
down in March 2011.

Proposed amendments
to the Act sent to the
DTI.

- Progress report on
the progress of
formulation

Actual
Performance

- Progress report on
the status of the
declarator

Quarterly
Milestones

Achieved

Achieved

Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

Key Performance Measures and Indicators
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2. Credible credit
providers
statistics to
be published
within
acceptable
time frames.

1. Enhancement
the Returns
Management
System (RMS)

Activity

ACTIVITY: 		
RESPONSIBLE:

Minimum information
for cat. 5-7.

100% capacity of
the RMS developed
to accommodate all
categories 1 to 4 credit
providers;

Performance
Indicators
To be fully operational
by 1st quarter

Quarterly
Milestone

Consumer Credit
Consumer Credit
Quarterly statistics
Report:
Reports published within (Form 39) published on
To be published within
due dates.
due dates
3 months from deadline
of submission. Due
dates: 15TH May;
15th August; 15th
November; 15th
February for 100%
of credit providers in
fee category 1-4
Due date 15 November
2010 publication date
15th February 2011
Due date 15 February
2011 Publication date 15
May 2011

1.2 To analyse minimum
information for 40%
of category 5 to 7
credit providers

1.1 All cat 1-4 returns
to be analysed
quarterly;

Targets/Output
to be delivered by
March 2011

STATISTICS
RAJEEN DEVPRUTH
Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

Timely submission of
reports.

Not Achieved
Quality control process
resulted in delays.

Exceeded

Exceeded

• The Consumer credit
market report for the
1st quarter published
on 18 August 2010 =
overdue by 2 days;
• The report for the 2nd
quarter published on
29 September 2010=
ahead of deadline by
45 days;
• The report for the 3rd
quarter published on
14 December 2010=
ahead of deadline by
2 months;

• The report for the 4th
Exceeded
quarter published on
3 April 2011 = ahead
of deadline by 45 days.

The RMS has been
developed to capture
minimum information
for the category 5 to 7
credit providers.

Not Achieved
Category 1 to 4 has
There was a delay in
been allocated to all
the appointment of
Analysts.
2 new staff members
who started working in
October 2010 instead of
April 2010.

Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved

Not Achieved
Quality of returns poor.

1.2 6% of Cat 5 – 7
analysed.

1.1. Analysed 53% of
Cat 1 – 4

Actual
Performance

Targets/Output
to be delivered by
March 2011

6 sets to be published
monthly from 2nd
quarter on the top 4
banks

3 sets of Debt
Counselling statistics
(Form 42) to be
published within 3
months from date of
submission. Due dates:
15TH May; 15th August;
15th November; 15th
February

4 sets of reports to be
published.
To be completed
quarterly for the
period ending March,
June, September
and December and
submitted within 30
days of quarter end, and
published within 60 days
after end of the quarter.

Periodic review of
limitations on fees
and interest rates to
be conducted by 1st
Quarter.

Activity

3. Release of
monthly one
page summary
report

4. Credible debt
counselling
Statistics to
be published
within
acceptable time
frames;

5. Credible
insurers’
statistics to
be published
within
acceptable time
frames;

6. Review of
interest rates
and cost factors

94
Quarterly statistics
published on due dates

Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved

Tenders were advertised
and the a service
provider has been
appointed

Not achieved
Project commencement
delayed to December
2010

Meetings were held with (Not Achieved)
This is not within NCR’s
the Financial Services
control.
Board (FSB) in August
and October 2010 with
the intention of making
a joint project with
them. Since information
required for this exercise
would have to be
provided by entities not
registered with NCR.

Not Achieved.
• Poor quality of data
submissions
• Inadequate
departmental capacity

This one page summary Achieved
report has been
replaced by a more
comprehensive credit
market report which
includes credit providers,
debt counsellors and
credit bureaux. These
reports are submitted
to the Governor of the
SA Reserve Bank on a
quarterly basis.

Actual
Performance

1st Quarterly statistics
Debt counselling stats
published by 2nd Quarter not published.

Quarterly progress
reports

Quarterly
Milestone

Report presented to the Report on Review of
Board and the Minister
interest rates and cost
in terms of Section 16 of factors by the 1st quarter.
the Act

To be published within
60 days after the end of
the quarter.

3 sets of published
statistics on due dates

To be published within
30 days after the month
end

Performance
Indicators

Service provider has
commenced work.

The NCR would need
to change the statutory
form to accommodate
the required information

• Guidelines for
statutory returns to
be finalised.
• Increase capacity

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

Key Performance Measures and Indicators
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3. National Credit
Register

2. Enforce Credit
Bureaux
Compliance

1. Credible credit
bureaux (CB),
statistics to
be published
within
acceptable
time frames

Activity

Appoint a project
manager and operator

2.2 Referrals to
investigation and
Enforcement
Department

2.2 To issue letters of
instructions;

To appoint a project
manager and operator
for the National Register
of Credit Agreement by
third Quarter of 2009.

2.1 Credit Bureau
Annual Compliance
Report to be
published from
Credit Bureaux
annual certified
returns (Form 43):

1.1 To be published
within 1.5 months
from deadline of
submission.

Performance
Indicators

2.1 To review the Credit
Bureau Annual
Compliance Report
on due dates:
within 2 months of
submission deadline15th March 2009 and
2010.

1. 1 Credit Bureau
Monitor to be
published from
Credit Bureaux
quarterly returns
(Form 44) which
are due on: 15th
May; 15th August;
15th November; 15th
February

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

Credit Bureau Annual
Compliance Report

Quarterly Credit Bureau
Monitor publication

Quarterly
Milestone

TYPE OF ACTIVITY:		
CREDIT INFORMATION AND RESEARCH
RESPONSIBLE MANAGER:		
DARRELL BEGHIN

Exceeded

Q3: July to Sept
published 1 December
2010 = ahead of
deadline by 19 days;

Business plan submitted

Letter, memo sent to
investigations

Insufficient capacity
within the department.

(Not achieved not
within control of
the department)
Further clarity on the
project communicated
by the DTI.

Achieved

Deadline for Review was Not Achieved
One credit bureau was
not met.
given an extention to
submit the relevant
information.

Exceeded

Exceeded

Q2: April to June
published 22 September
2010 = ahead of
deadline by 6 days;

Q4: Oct to Dec
published 16 March
2011 = ahead of
deadline by 10 days.

Not Achieved
One Credit Bureau
submitted incorrect
information and this
delayed publication.

Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved

Q1: Jan to March
published 14 July 2010
= overdue by 9 days;

Actual
Performance

Drafting of TOR in
progress and capacity to
be recruited.

Timeline and action
plan implemented to
complete reviews by
May 2011

Pre-plan the production
timelines for production
of the monitor.

Target Not
Achieved:
Plan going forward

4. Progress in
achieving
priority
research
objectives and
prioritizing.

Activity

Report sent to Minister

Published by 4th quarter

Access to finance in
priority areas: SME
finance; housing; rural
finance; low income and
HDI.

4.2 Access to finance in
priority areas: SME
finance; housing;
rural finance; low
income and HDI by
3rd quarter of the
financial year

4.3 Report to the
Minister in terms of
Section 16

Published by 3rd quarter

Quarterly
Milestone

Published report on
website

Performance
Indicators

4.1 Over-Indebtedness
research to be
conducted by 2nd
quarter of the
financial year

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011
Not achieved
Insufficient capacity.

Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved

- Cost of and access
Not Achieved
to credit study (which
For reasons stated
includes Housing and
above
Rural finance) has
commenced.
- SME finance, Low
income and HDI studies
were considered not to
be a priority for the year.

Actual
Performance

The report to be
submitted to the
Minister in the new year.

The cost of and access
to credit study first draft
report will be ready by
June 2011.
Research on other
priority areas to be
considered in the new
year.

The Research Officer
recently appointed
in May 2011 and will
commence with the
exercise in the new year.

Target Not
Achieved:
Plan going forward

Key Performance Measures and Indicators
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3. Ensure
sufficient
funding
to achieve
operational
targets:

2. Expenditure
Monitored and
within budgets

1. Implementation
of procedures
for effective
PFMA
compliance

Activity
External audit (AG)
- Interim audit -no
significant items; Final
audit - AG opinion
except for matters not
within the control of the
NCR.

- Monitor use of surplus.
- Endeavour to source
funding from DTI
and all other possible
sources.

Monitor actual spending
against budget and
inform managers
thereof.

2.2 Monitoring of
budget variance and
reporting thereon.

3.1 Alternative
funding identified
or expenditure
adjustments made
to accommodate
funding shortfalls,
when the surplus is
exhausted.

Management accounts
distributed by 15th of
each month (unless on
Saturday, Sunday, or on
Public Holidays).

2.1 Reliable monthly
management
accounts produced,
distributed to
management;

1.2 No significant PFMA Internal audit reports;
compliance issues;
PFMA compliance;
Finance audit; Quarterly
reports to DTI ;PFMA
calendar

1.1 Unqualified audit
opinion;

Performance
Indicators

Progress Reports to
Management/Exco

Progress Reports to
Audit Committee, Board
and DTI

Quarterly
Milestones

FINANCE AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
SIVO PATHER

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

TYPE OF ACTIVITY:		
RESPONSIBLE MANAGER:

• Approval to retain
surpluses has been
granted by National
Treasury.

• An accumulated
surplus of R49M has
been generated.

Managers submit
monthly budget variance
reports with reasons for
variances.

Management accounts
for the period were
submitted timeously
except for March 2011.
The management
accounts for March to
be distributed on 3 May
2011.

No PFMA issues noted.

NCR received an
unqualified audit report
for the year ended
31/03/2010 and no
management letter
points.

Actual
Performance

Achieved

Not Achieved
Due to normal year end
procedure.

Achieved

Achieved

Targets Far
Exceeded/Not
Achieved

Generally at year-end,
our close-off is later than
scheduled.

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

4.2 Perform assessment
and determine
critical risk factors.

Report presented to IT
Committee and Exco

4.2 Assess stability
of IRAS (Interim
Registration &
Accreditation
System) for use over
the next 4 years.

5. BPR exercise to 5.1 Business Process Reengineering (BPR)
determine the
completed
optimum state
of the NCR
with regard to
the business
processes

Performance
Indicators
4.1 Monitor any
downtime
experienced and
ensure that it is kept
to a minimum (2%);

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

4.1 98% uptime;

4. Effective IT
systems and
support.

Activity

Actual
Performance

Progress Reports to
Quarterly IT and Exco.

Exceeded

Targets Far
Exceeded/Not
Achieved

BPR phase II is now
completed. All close
out reports have been
signed off.

Achieved

Risk assessment
Achieved
performed. Now
monitored at weekly and
monthly IT committee
meetings.

Progress Reports to
An average of 0.67%
Quarterly IT Committee downtime experienced
between April 2010 and
March 2011.

Quarterly
Milestones

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

Key Performance Measures and Indicators
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1. Recruitment
and retention
of highly skilled
and committed
staff

Activity

Conduct the exercises
by 1st and 4th Quarter.

Salary benchmarking
exercise conducted;
report presented
to HRMC and
Remuneration
Committee (Remco
Report presented
to HRMC, Exco and
Remco.
Development of a
well documented and
implemented retention
strategy

1.3 Ensure that the
NCR’s remuneration
strategy is in line
with market trends;

1.4 Career Management
& Succession
planning
implemented.

Implementation by the
end of the 2nd quarter

Progress reports

Report presented to
HRMC;

1.2 Staff turnover
reduced (Average
reduction in staff
turnover should
be 10% - 15% per
annum)

At least 80% of critical
positions filled by 1st
Quarter and balance by
2nd Quarter

Quarterly
Milestone

All critical posts filled
within time frames:
report presented
to HR Management
Committee (HRMC);

Performance
Indicators

1.1 Turnaround time
to fill vacancies
improved: 3 months
to fill critical posts

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

Type of Activity:
Human ResourceS
Responsible Manager: MPFARISENI MUDAU

Achieved

Not Achieved
The approval process
for the new positions as
per BPR was finalised
towards the end of the
1st and 2nd quarters.

Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved

The draft career
management and
succession planning
policy has been
presented to MANCO.

Not achieved
Draft policies had to
be reviewed by the
new HR Manager who
commenced work in
February 2011.

Achieved
The process has been
completed for the 1st
and 3rd quarter. Findings
have been presented to
the HRMC and REMCO.

The turn over for the
period is 10%.

90% critical positions
were filled during the 3rd
and 4th quarter.

Actual
performance

Recommendations to be
presented to REMCO

The remaining positions
will be filled in the new
year.

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

Performance
Indicators

Quarterly
Milestone

3. Improvement
of HR capacity
and capability

3.1. HR Supervisor to be
employed

All HR positions filled by
full time employees

Not achieved
Delays in finalising
deliverables.

Achieved

Achieved

Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved

All positions in HR are Achieved
filled by permanent staff
and one fixed term
contract.

The EE plan document
has been drafted.

Existence of a
well documented
Employment equity plan.

2.3 Employment Equity
plan reviewed and
implemented.

Employment Equity Plan
to exist by the end of
the 2nd quarter

The employee assistance
programme is fully
functional. Wellness
articles are being
circulated.

Functioning employee
assistance programme

The forum exists and
is fully functional; the
progress report is
presented at quarterly
HRMC meetings.

Actual
performance

2.2 Interventions to
address staff morale
developed and
implemented;

2. Management
2.1 A forum to address Minutes of the meetings Progress reports to
staff issues functional; of the forum presented HR Management
of employee
Committee;
to HR Committee;
relations and
improvement of
staff morale

Activity

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

To be presented to the
next REMCO

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

Key Performance Measures and Indicators
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4. Development
of staff and
improvement
of
organisational
performance

Activity

Report to the
HR Management
Committee.
Report presented to
the HR Management
Committee and Exco

4.3.2 Utilisation of
funds for staff
development

4.3.3 Develop a
graduate
development
programme

4.3.1 Ensure Skills
Development Levy
is claimed from
Bank Seta;

Reports on training
interventions

Progress reports

Implementation in the
3rd quarter.

Progress reports

4.2.2 Quarterly short
term incentive
scheme (STI) in
place.

4.3 Adequate training
interventions:
60% of all staff to
undergo training by
March 2011 with
an average of 5%
of staff going on
training per quarter.

Implemented by the 1st
Quarter;

4.2.1 All staff
understand the
performance
management
system (pms);

4.2 Performance
management
reviewed and shortterm incentive
scheme developed
and implemented.

Quarterly Progress
reports

Quarterly
Milestone

Leadership and
Management
Development
program designed and
implemented

Performance
Indicators

1.1 At least 60% of all
supervisors and
managers attend
a leadership and
management
development
program ;

Targets/Output to
be delivered by 31
March 2011

An amount of R300K
was approved by the
BANKSETA
For the implementation
of learnerships.

A total of R390K was
utilised

R170K claimed from
Bank SETA.

68 (61%) staff members
attended training during
the financial year.

The STI draft proposal
has been completed.

PMS is in place. No
concerns raised by the
staff during appraisals.

>60% of managers and
supervisors combined
attended leadership &
management courses.

Actual
performance

Achieved

Achieved

Achieved

Exceeded

Not achieved
The consultation
process with the staff
committee took longer
than expected

Achieved

Achieved

Targets Exceeded/
Not Achieved

.

To finalise the process in
the new year.

Target Not
Achieved: Plan
going forward

Key Performance Measures and Indicators
LEGENDS:
Work in progress		
Achieved		
Not achieved		
Exceeded		
Not applicable		

=
=
=
=
=

The due date to meet target(s) is in the future. The process of achieving target has commenced.
Target has been attained as planned.
Target not attained on specified due date.
Accomplished more than what was required on or before planned due date.
The deadline is not relevant in the reporting period.
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KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES AND INDICATORS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR:
1 APRIL 2010 TO 31 MARCH 2011

DEFINITION OF ACRONYMS
Term

Definition

ADR

Alternative Dispute Resolution

AG

Auditor General

Cat.

Category

CB

Credit Bureau

CP

Credit Provider

DC

Debt Counsellor

DTI

Department of Trade and Industry

EXCO

Executive Committee

EEC

Employment Equity Committee

EEP

Employment Equity Plan

FSB

Financial Services Board

HRMC

Human Resources Management Committee

IT

Information Technology

KPA

Key Performance Area

MANCO

Management Committee

MRCC

Management Registrations and Compliance Committee

MECC

Management Enforcement and Complaints Committee

MoA

Memorandum of Agreement

NCA

National Credit Act

NCR

National Credit Regulator

NCT

National Consumer Tribunal

NLR

National Loans Register

PDAs

Payment Distribution Agencies

PFMA

Public Finance Management Act

PMS

Performance Management System

REMCO

Remuneration Committee

RMS

Returns Management System

SANTACO

SA National Taxi Council

SATS

SA Taxi Securitisation

SETA

Service Education and Training Authority

SDL

Skills Development Levy

DCASA

Debt Counselling Association of South Africa

NDMA

National Debt Mediation Agency

DRAC

Debt Review Advisory Committee

Refer to the last page (pg 100) for the LEGENDS
Please note: in instances where the target does not reflect time-lines, it must be understood that the target date is 31 March 2011
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